Cour Pénale Internationale



International Criminal Court

Original: English

No.: ICC-01/18

Date: 23 August 2024

PRE-TRIAL CHAMBER I

Before: Judge Iulia Motoc, Presiding Judge

Judge Reine Adélaïde Sophie Alapini-Gansou

Judge Nicolas Guillou

SITUATION IN THE STATE OF PALESTINE

Public with Confidential Annexes A to D

Prosecution's consolidated response to observations by interveners pursuant to article 68(3) of the Rome Statute and rule 103 of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence

Source: Office of the Prosecutor

Document to be notified in accordance with regulation 31 of the *Regulations of the Court* to:

The Office of the Prosecutor

Mr Karim A. A. Khan KC Mr Andrew Cayley KC

Counsel for the Defence

Legal Representatives of the Victims

Ms Katherine Gallagher Mr Khaled Al Shouli and Mr Wael Al Masry

Mr Bradley Parker and

Mr Khaled Quzmar Mr Raji Sourani,

Ms Chantal Meloni and Mr Triestino

Mariniello

Ms Nada Kiswanson van Hooydonk and Mr

Rodney Dixon KC Ms Liesbeth Zegveld

Ms Dominique Cochain Assi

Mr Gilles Devers

Ms Yael Vias Gvirsman

Mr Juan Branco

Mr Yasser Hassan,

Ms Lamia Mobada

Legal Representatives of the Applicants

Unrepresented Victims

The Office of Public Counsel for Victims

Ms Paolina Massida

Unrepresented Applicants

The Office of Public Counsel for the

Defence

Ms Marie O'Leary

States Representatives

The United Kingdom
The State of Palestine
The Kingdom of Norway

Hungary

Republic of Argentina Czech Republic Republic of Colombia Kingdom of Spain Chile and Mexico

The United States of America The League of Arab States

The Federative Republic of Brazil

Ireland

Federal Republic of Germany

République Démocratique du Congo

South Africa, Bangladesh, Bolivia, Comoros,

and Djibouti

Amicus Curiae

Mr Eli M. Rosenbaum Professor David Chilstein Professor John Quigley High Level Military Group

European Centre for Law & Justice Professor Steven E. Zipperstein

Mr and Mrs Serge and Beate Klarsfeld Professors Yuval Shany and Amichai Cohen

Professor William Schabas

Open Society Justice, Initiative European Center for Constitutional and Human Rights, REDRESS Trust, Human Rights Watch and

Amnesty International

The Jerusalem Center for Public Affairs and

The Institute for NGO Research

The Organisation of Islamic Cooperation

ICC-01/18 2/49 23 August 2024

REGISTRY

The Touro Institute on Human Rights and the Holocaust

Canadian Union of Jewish Students (CUJS) and the World Union of Jewish Students (WUJS)

Arab Organisation for Human Rights UK (AOHR UK)

Assistant Professor Halla Shoaibi and Professor Asem Khalil

Centre for Israel and Jewish Affairs

The Palestine Independent Commission for Human Rights (ICHR)

Law for Palestine

Professor Sascha Dominik Dov Bachman, Dr Deborah Mayersen, Professor Gregory Rose and Dr Colin Rubenstein

US Senator Lindsey O. Graham

Lawyers for Palestinian Human Rights

Israel Bar Association

International Centre of Justice for Palestinians and the Centre for Human Rights Law (SOAS University of London) Jerusalem Institute of Justice

Centre for European Legal Studies on Macro-Crime (MACROCRIMES)

Dr Robert Heinsch and Dr Giulia Pinzauti

The Hague Initiative for International Cooperation

ICJ Norway and Defend International Law UN Special Rapporteurs and Working Groups

Professor Neve Gordon

Al-Quds Human Rights Clinic and Al-Quds University

L'association des Juristes pour le respect du droit international and la Fédération internationale pour les droits humains

University Network for Human Rights, the International Human Rights Clinic, Boston University School of Law, the International Human Rights Clinic, Cornell Law School and the Lowenstein Human Rights Project, Vale Law School

Yale Law School

Professor Richard Falk and Professor Michael Lynk

Professor Adil Ahmad Haque

Hostages and Missing Families Forum and the Raoul Wallenberg Centre for Human Rights

Addameer Prisoner Support and Human Rights Association

International Association of Jewish Lawyers and Jurists

UK Lawyers for Israel, B'nai B'rith UK, the International Legal Forum, the Jerusalem Initiative and the Simon Wiesenthal Centre International Commission of Jurists (ICJ)

The Palestinian Association for Human Rights (Witness)

Guernica 37 Chambers

ALMA – Association for the Promotion of International Humanitarian Law

Avocats pour la Justice au Proche-Orient (AJPO)

Dr Shahd Hammouri

Al-Haq Law in the Service of Mankind (Al-Haq), Al Mezan Center for Human Rights (Al-Mezan) and the Palestinian Center for Human Rights (PCHR)

Arpit Batra

Registrar

Mr Osvaldo Zavala Giler

Counsel Support Section

Victims and Witnesses Unit

Detention Section

Victims Participation and Reparations Other Section

Contents

I.	INTRODUCTION	.6
II.	BACKGROUND	.9
III.	SUBMISSIONS	13
A.	The observations unrelated to the Oslo Accords should be dismissed in limine	14
B.	The article 58 proceedings are <i>ex parte</i> and have a limited purpose	15
C.	The Article 19(3) Decision addressed the Oslo Accords and is settled law	19
D.	The Oslo Accords do not and cannot bar the Court's exercise of jurisdiction over Israe ionals for crimes committed in the oPt	
a	. The Court's jurisdiction is regulated by the Statute	22
b	The Oslo Accords objection	23
c	. The Oslo Accords objection is without merit	25
E. Dec	There is no complementarity issue barring the Chamber from issuing the Article 58 cisions	34
a	. There is no "ostensible cause" that would compel the Chamber to assess complementarity	34
b	. The cases identified in the Article 58 Applications are admissible before the Court 3	37
c	. The cases described in the Applications fall within the parameters of the situation referred by Palestine	40
d	The Prosecutor was not required to open a new investigation or issue a new article 18(1) notification	14
e	. Israel's 1 May 2024 Letter is not a request for deferral under article 18(2)	48
IV.	RELIEF REQUESTED	49

I. INTRODUCTION

- 1. In accordance with Pre-Trial Chamber I's order of 9 August 2024,¹ the Prosecutor files this consolidated response in the *Situation in the State of Palestine* to the observations of interveners, including legal representatives of victims, members of academia, private citizens, international and non-profit organisations, and States. The Prosecution requests the Chamber to decide with the utmost urgency the Prosecution's Article 58 Applications on the basis of its submissions and the Article 19(3) Decision.²
- 2. Israel has occupied Palestine since 1967.³ As the International Court of Justice ("ICJ") held in its *Advisory Opinion* of 19 July 2024, Israel's continued presence in the Occupied Palestinian Territory ("oPt") is unlawful.⁴ The territory occupied includes Gaza, over which Israel exercises a range of forms of control.⁵ It has done so both before and after its unilateral disengagement in 2005, and before and after its military operations in response to the attacks of 7 October 2023.⁶ It includes the West Bank and East Jerusalem, where Israel has established, maintained, and expanded settlements in violation of international law.⁷ Israel has also engaged in policies and practices in violation of international law that have resulted in the annexation of large parts of the oPt,⁸ that entail systematic discrimination,⁹ and that impede the right of the Palestinian people to self-determination.¹⁰
- 3. Since at least 2008, Israel and Hamas have been engaged in a non-international armed conflict, entailing extensive and repeated airstrikes, the killing of civilians, the destruction of property, and the taking of hostages. On 7 October 2023, Hamas carried out an attack on Israel with the assistance of other Palestinian armed groups, killing hundreds of Israeli civilians and abducting over 240 persons, many of whom continue to be held hostage. Following the attack, Israel launched a large-scale military operation in Gaza, which has caused and continues to cause extensive civilian casualties, including tens of thousands of Palestinians killed, massive

¹ <u>ICC-01/18-325</u>, para. 8; <u>ICC-01/18-173-Red</u>, para. 8. The Prosecution will interchangeably use "Pre-Trial Chamber I" and "Chamber".

² ICC-01/18-143 ("Article 19(3) Decision").

³ Legal Consequences of the Construction of a Wall in the Occupied Palestinian Territory", Advisory Opinion, 9 July 2004, I.C.J. Reports 2004, p. 136 ("*Wall Advisory Opinion*"), paras. 73-78; "Legal Consequences arising from the Policies and Practices of Israel in the Occupied Palestinian Territory, including East Jerusalem", Advisory Opinion, 19 July 2024 ("*ICJ Advisory Opinion*"), para. 87.

⁴ ICJ Advisory Opinion, para. 261.

⁵ ICJ Advisory Opinion, para. 93.

⁶ ICJ Advisory Opinion, paras. 86-94.

Wall Advisory Opinion, para. 120; ICJ Advisory Opinion, para. 67.

⁸ ICJ Advisory Opinion, para. 173.

⁹ *ICJ Advisory Opinion*, paras. 180-229.

¹⁰ ICJ Advisory Opinion, paras. 230-243.

destruction of civilian infrastructure, and the displacement of the overwhelming majority of the population. Israel has deprived the Palestinian population of objects indispensable to their survival.

- As described above and as victims participating in these proceedings have asserted: "the 4. situation clearly did not start on 7 October 2023". 11 As noted in the referrals by Chile and México, and by South Africa, Bangladesh, Bolivia, Comoros and Djibouti, these recent events represented an escalation in the violence that had long been part of the existing criminality alleged in this situation. 12 As such, the events of 7 October 2023 and Israel's response thereto fall squarely within the parameters of, and are in any event sufficiently linked to, the situation referred by Palestine to the Court in May 2018, which has been under investigation by the Prosecution since 3 March 2021.
- It is settled law that the Court has jurisdiction in this situation. On 5 February 2021, after a thorough and inclusive process triggered by the Prosecution's article 19(3) request, this Chamber—in a different composition—held unanimously that Palestine is a State Party to the Statute and, by majority, that the Court's jurisdiction extends over the oPt, that is, the West Bank, including East Jerusalem, and Gaza.¹³ It also specifically held that the Oslo Accords were not a bar to opening the Court's investigation. ¹⁴ These findings apply no less to the current proceedings, since in the present *ex parte* context this ruling is settled law, and therefore does not need to be revisited.
- The Prosecutor's announcement of his intention to make applications under article 58, 6. initiating prosecutions against certain individuals, could not and did not alter the ex parte nature of the resulting article 58 proceedings, to which the Prosecutor is the only party. The ex parte nature of article 58 proceedings is regulated by the Court's legal framework and accords with their limited purpose and applicable evidentiary threshold; it is unrelated to the level of classification of filings. Nor is this the first time that an ICC Prosecutor has made a public announcement. Indeed, the Prosecutor has publicly announced the filing of requests for arrest warrants or summons to appear with respect to at least 13 persons in at least four other situations—in 2008, in 2010, in 2011, and in 2022. 15 Yet, in each of those cases the proceedings remained ex parte (Prosecutor only) and the Chambers issued their decisions under article 58

 ¹¹ ICC-01/18-335 ("Sourani *et al.*"), para. 2.
 ¹² Chile and Mexico Article 14 Referral; South Africa *et al.* Article 14 Referral.

¹³ Article 19(3) Decision, p. 60.

¹⁴ Article 19(3) Decision, paras. 124-129.

¹⁵ See Darfur, Kenya, Libya and Georgia.

on the basis of the Prosecution's submissions only and without any preceding rule 103 process. There is no reason to treat this situation differently.

- 7. In any event, the Oslo Accords—which should be considered an agreement between an occupying power (Israel) and a local authority (the Palestinian Liberation Organization) regulating aspects of the occupation, as foreseen by article 47 of GCIV¹⁶—are irrelevant to the Court's jurisdiction. The Court's jurisdiction is exclusively and exhaustively governed by article 12 of the Statute, interpreted in accordance with ordinary modes of treaty interpretation under international law and the Court's consistent jurisprudence.
- 8. Furthermore, there are no "uncontested facts that render [the] case[s] clearly inadmissible," nor is there any "ostensible cause" otherwise compelling the Chamber to assess admissibility in the current proceedings. ¹⁷ As the Prosecution has concluded, and as is evident from the public record, there are no domestic proceedings at present which deal with substantially the same conduct and the same persons as the cases presented to the Chamber pursuant to article 58 of the Statute. There is no information indicating that Benjamin NETANYAHU or Yoav GALLANT, Israel's Prime Minister and Minister of Defence, respectively, are being criminally investigated or prosecuted, and indeed the core allegations against them have simply been rejected by Israeli authorities.
- 9. Adhering to the Court's settled law concerning article 58 proceedings—in which admissibility determinations are discretionary, and only to be made in exceptional cases such as when there is an "ostensible cause"—creates no prejudice either for any State with jurisdiction or for any suspect for whom an arrest warrant has been sought.¹⁸ These rights are expressly preserved by article 19(2) of the Statute, which allows for the possibility of admissibility challenges if the Chamber decides to issue an arrest warrant pursuant to article 58 of the Statute.
- 10. Finally, the Prosecution recalls that the Court is required to respect the internationally recognised rights of victims with regard to the conduct of its proceedings, especially the rights of victims to know the truth, to have access to justice, and to request reparations.¹⁹ This means

¹⁶ <u>GCIV</u>, article 47. In interpreting the Oslo Accords, the ICJ considered it necessary to take into account article 47 of GCIV, which provides that the protected population "shall not be deprived" of the benefits of the Convention "by any agreement concluded between the authorities of the occupied territories and the Occupying Power": <u>ICJ Advisory Opinion</u>, para. 102.

¹⁷ ICC-01/04-169 OA ("DRC Arrest Warrant Appeal Judgment"), para. 52.

¹⁸ To the contrary, the Appeals Chamber has held that judicial restraint at the article 58 stage may protect such interests: *see e.g. DRC* Arrest Warrant Appeal Judgment, paras. 48-51.

¹⁹ ICC-RoC46(3)-01/18-37 ("<u>Bangladesh/Myanmar Jurisdiction Decision</u>"), paras.87-88, quoting <u>ICC-01/04-01/06-772 OA4</u>, para 37.

that the Chamber must fulfil its solemn responsibility to consider and decide on the Article 58 Applications with utmost urgency. Any unjustified delay in these proceedings detrimentally affects the rights of victims.²⁰

11. The situation in the oPt, including Gaza, is catastrophic, owing in large part to the ongoing criminality described in the Applications. As anticipated by article 58(1)(b)(iii) of the Statute, the arrest of the persons named in the Applications appears *necessary* "to prevent [them] from continuing with the commission of that crime or a related crime which is within the jurisdiction of the Court and which arises out of the same circumstances." This is manifestly evident in this situation where victims are "struggling with death, hunger and disease". The issuance of the requested arrest warrants could avert further harm to the victims who remain in Gaza and to those who were forced to leave but continue to suffer physical and mental harm. The ICJ has already addressed the situation in the oPt on four separate occasions during 2024, and it is now for the Court to ensure that there is no delay in the pursuit of criminal accountability in the *Situation in the State of Palestine*.

II. BACKGROUND

- 12. On 1 January 2015, pursuant to article 12(3) of the Statute, Palestine accepted the Court's jurisdiction for crimes allegedly committed "in the occupied Palestinian territory, including East Jerusalem, since June 13, 2014".²⁴
- 13. On 2 January 2015, Palestine acceded to the Rome Statute by depositing its instrument of accession with the UN Secretary-General pursuant to article 125(3) of the Statute.²⁵ The Statute entered into force for Palestine on 1 April 2015.²⁶ Since its accession and as a State Party to the Statute, Palestine has developed an active role in the work of the Assembly of States Parties ("ASP"), has contributed to the Court's budget and has participated in the adoption of resolutions by the ASP.²⁷

²⁰ <u>Bangladesh/Myanmar Jurisdiction Decision</u>, para. 88.

²¹ ICC-01/18-330 ("Van Hooydonk & Dixon"), para. 3.

²² ICC-01/18-337 ("Gallagher"), para. 14.

²³ ICJ Advisory Opinion; Order 24 May 2024; Order 28 March 2024; Order 26 January 2024.

²⁴ See Press Release Palestine Acceptance ICC Jurisdiction since 13 June 2014, 5 January 2015. See also Palestine Article 12(3) Declaration, 31 December 2014 (signed by Mahmoud Abbas as President of the State of Palestine); Letter from ICC Registrar to Mahmoud Abbas, 7 January 2015 (indicating confirmation of receipt on 1 January 2015 of the 31 December 2014 Declaration).

²⁵ Press Release Palestine Accession, 7 January 2015; UNSG Notification of Palestine Accession, 6 January 2015.

²⁶ See ASP President Speech, 1 April 2015; see Statute, article 126(2).

²⁷ Article 19(3) Decision, para. 100.

- 14. On 16 January 2015, the Prosecutor opened a Preliminary Examination into the *Situation* in the State of Palestine.²⁸
- 15. On 22 May 2018, Palestine referred this situation to the Prosecutor requesting "the Prosecutor to investigate, in accordance with the temporal jurisdiction of the Court, past, ongoing and future crimes within the court's jurisdiction, committed in all parts of the territory of the State of Palestine".²⁹ It specified that "[t]he State of Palestine comprises the Palestinian Territory occupied in 1967 by Israel, as defined by the 1949 Armistice Line, [which] includes the West Bank, including East Jerusalem, and the Gaza Strip".³⁰
- 16. On 22 January 2020, the Prosecution requested Pre-Trial Chamber I to rule on the scope of the Court's territorial jurisdiction in this Situation pursuant to article 19(3) of the Statute.³¹
- 17. On 28 January 2020, and upon the Prosecution's suggestion, the Chamber expressly invited Israel as well as other States, organisations and/or persons to provide observations on the question identified by the Prosecution for the purpose of article 19(3).³²
- 18. On 20 February 2020, the Chamber allowed numerous legal representatives of victims,³³ States Parties,³⁴ intergovernmental organisations,³⁵ and *amici curiae*³⁶ to provide observations of up to 30 pages on the question identified by the Prosecution.³⁷ In total, the Chamber received submissions from some 11 groups of one or more victims, 31 States Parties (from eight States

ICC-01/18 23 August 2024

²⁸ See Press Release Prosecutor Statement PE Palestine, 16 January 2015.

²⁹ See Prosecutor Statement Palestine Article 14 Referral, 22 May 2018. See also Palestine Article 14 Referral, 15 May 2018 (signed by Dr. Riad Malki, Minister of Foreign Affairs and Expatriates), para. 9.

³⁰ Palestine Article 14 Referral, fn. 4.

³¹ See ICC-01/18-12 ("Prosecutor Request"), paras. 5, 220.

³² ICC-01/18-14 ("Article 19(3) Order"), paras. 15-16.

³³ See <u>LRV1 Brief</u> (victims represented by Zegveld); <u>LRV2 Brief</u> (victims represented by Gaynor and Kiswanson van Hooydonk); <u>LRV3 Brief</u> (victims represented by Parker and Quzmar); <u>OPCV Brief</u> (OPCV on behalf of unrepresented victims); <u>LRV4 Brief</u> (victims represented by Darshan-Leitner *et al.*); <u>LRV5 Brief</u> (victims represented by Gallagher); <u>LRV6 Brief</u> (victims represented by Sourani *et al.*); <u>LRV7 Brief</u> (victims represented by Cochain Assi); <u>LRV8 Brief</u> (victims represented by Devers); <u>LRV9 Brief</u> (victims represented by Powles and Francis); <u>LRV10 Brief</u> (victims represented by [Redacted]).

³⁴ See Czech Republic Brief; <u>Austria Brief</u>; <u>Palestine Brief</u>; <u>Australia Brief</u>; <u>Hungary Brief</u>; <u>Germany Brief</u>; <u>Brazil Brief</u>; <u>Uganda Brief</u>.

³⁵ See OIC Brief (Organisation of Islamic Cooperation); Arab League Brief (League of Arab States). The Organisation of Islamic Cooperation represents 57 States of which Afghanistan, Albania, Bangladesh, Benin, Burkina Faso, Chad, Comoros, Côte d'Ivoire, Djibouti, Gabon, Gambia, Guinea, Guyana, Jordan, Maldives, Mali, Niger, Nigeria, Palestine, Senegal, Sierra Leone, Suriname, Tajikistan, Tunisia, and Uganda (25) are also ICC States Parties. The League of Arab States represents 22 States of which the Comoros, Djibouti, Jordan, Palestine, and Tunisia (5) are also ICC States Parties.

³⁶ See ICC-01/18-63 ("<u>Amicus Curiae Decision</u>"); ICC-01/18-128 ("<u>Further Amicus Curiae Decision</u>"). See further Quigley Brief; ECLJ Brief; Schabas Brief; PBA Brief; Khalil and Shoaibi Brief; Bazian Brief; Shaw Brief; Falk Brief; MyAQSA Brief; Shurat HaDin Brief; IBA Brief; Lawfare Project et al. Brief; Buchwald and Rapp Brief; FIDH et al. Brief; Gvirsman Brief; OPCD Brief; Guernica 37 Brief; UKLFI et al. Brief; Blank et al. Brief; Ross Brief; Benvenisti Brief; PCHR et al. Brief; Badinter et al. Brief; IAJLJ Brief; PCPA Brief; TIHRH Brief; IL Brief; Heinsch and Pinzauti Brief; IFF Brief; Intellectum Scientific Society Brief; Weiss Brief; Romano Brief; ICmJ Brief; IADL Brief.

³⁷ Amicus Curiae Decision, paras. 53-56, 58-59.

Parties directly, and from two international organisations which represent more than 20 States Parties, alongside more than 30 other non-States Parties), and 34 academics or nongovernmental organisations (individually or in groups).

- On 30 April 2020, the Prosecution filed a consolidated response to the above observations.³⁸
- On 5 February 2021, the Chamber issued its Article 19(3) Decision, where it unanimously confirmed that Palestine is a State Party and, by majority, that Palestine is a State for the purposes of article 12(2)(a) of the Statute, that the territorial scope of the Court's jurisdiction in this situation extends to the territories occupied by Israel since 1967 (namely, the West Bank, including East Jerusalem, and Gaza),³⁹ and that the Oslo Accords do not bar the initiation of the Prosecution's investigation.⁴⁰ Judge Perrin de Brichambaut appended a separate opinion regarding the application of article 19(3).⁴¹ Judge Kovács appended a partly dissenting opinion with respect to the majority's reasoning and conclusion.⁴²
- On 3 March 2021, the Prosecutor announced the opening of the investigation in the Situation in the State of Palestine with respect to crimes within the jurisdiction of the Court that are alleged to have been committed in the Situation since 13 June 2014.⁴³
- On 17 November 2023, South Africa, Bangladesh, Bolivia, Comoros and Djibouti referred the Situation to the Prosecutor. 44 They recalled Palestine's referral, the Prosecution's investigation, and noted the recent "escalation of violence" in the Situation.
- On 18 January 2024, Chile and México also referred the Situation to the Prosecutor. 45 23. They noted the 17 November 2023 referral and "encouraged by this example, [they] want[ed] to draw further attention of the Office of the Prosecutor to the situation in the State of Palestine". They likewise noted the "latest escalation of violence" and requested the Prosecution to investigate the Situation beginning on 13 June 2014.
- On 20 May 2024, the Prosecutor publicly announced his intention to apply under article 58 for the arrest of five persons in the Situation in the State of Palestine. 46

ICC-01/18

³⁸ ICC-01/18-131 ("Prosecution Response").

³⁹ Article 19(3) Decision, p. 60. The resolution of this question necessarily required answering the question of whether Palestine was a State for the purposes of the exercise of the Court's jurisdiction under article 12(2)(a). ⁴⁰ Article 19(3) Decision, para. 129.

⁴¹ ICC-01/18-143-Anx2 ("Judge Perrin de Brichambaut's Separate Opinion"). ⁴² ICC-01/18-143-Anx1 ("Judge Kovács' Partly Dissenting Opinion").

 ⁴³ Prosecutor Statement, 3 March 2021.
 44 South Africa *et al.* Article 14 Referral.

⁴⁵ Chile and Mexico Article 14 Referral.

⁴⁶ Prosecutor Public Statement, 20 May 2024. The Prosecution will refer to these applications as "Article 58" Applications" or "Applications".

- 25. On 10 June 2024, the United Kingdom requested leave to provide observations under rule 103 on "[w]hether the Court can exercise jurisdiction over Israeli nationals, in circumstances where Palestine cannot exercise criminal jurisdiction over Israeli nationals pursuant to the Oslo Accords".⁴⁷
- 26. On 27 June 2024, the Chamber granted the United Kingdom's request to file observations and invited any further requests under rule 103 to be submitted by 12 July 2024. 48
- 27. On 4 July 2024, the Chamber granted the request by the United Kingdom for an extension of time to provide its observations, given the approaching general election in the United Kingdom on 4 July 2024.⁴⁹ Ultimately, the United Kingdom did not file any observations.
- 28. On 22 July 2024, after receiving over 70 applications from individuals, organisations, and States, the Chamber granted leave to most applicants to provide observations by 6 August 2024. The Chamber also directed legal representatives of potential victims to rely on article 68(3) of the Statute if they wished to provide observations.⁵⁰
- 29. On 30 July 2024, pursuant to article 68(3) of the Statute, the Office of Public Counsel for Victims ("OPCV") and several groups of legal representatives of victims were granted leave to provide observations by 12 August 2024.⁵¹
- 30. On 9 August 2024, the Chamber allowed the Office of Public Counsel for the Defence ("OPCD") to file observations by 16 August 2024. It also authorised the Prosecution to file a consolidated response of no more than 53 pages by 26 August 2024. ⁵²
- 31. In total, the Chamber has received submissions from some ten groups of victims (including OPCV),⁵³ OPCD,⁵⁴ 40 States Parties (from 18 States Parties directly,⁵⁵ and from two international organisations which represent an additional 22 States Parties, alongside more than

ICC-01/18 12/49 23 August 2024

⁴⁷ ICC-01/18-171-Red.

⁴⁸ ICC-01/18-173-Red ("First Order"), para. 6.

⁴⁹ ICC-01/18-178 ("Decision on UK Request").

⁵⁰ ICC-01/18-249 ("Second Amicus Order"), paras. 11, 14.

⁵¹ ICC-01/18-256 ("<u>Victims Order</u>").

⁵² ICC-01/18-325 ("OPCD Order").

⁵³ Victims include ICC-01/18-327 ("OPCV"); ICC-01/18-338 ("Al Shouli & Al Masry"); ICC-01/18-336 ("Parker & Quzmar"); ICC-01/18-335 ("Sourani et al."); ICC-01/18-330 ("Van Hooydonk & Dixon"); ICC-01/18-337 ("Gallagher"); ICC-01/18-334 ("Devers"); ICC-01/18-333 ("Gvirsman"); ICC-01/18-322 ("Branco") and ICC-01/18-344 ("Raoudha Addassi").

⁵⁴ ICC-01/18-342 ("<u>OPCD</u>").

⁵⁵ State Parties include ICC-01/18-296 ("<u>Hungary</u>"); ICC-01/18-294 ("<u>Czech Republic</u>"); ICC-01/18-291 ("<u>Palestine</u>"); ICC-01/18-299 ("<u>Colombia</u>"); ICC-01/18-318 ("<u>Spain</u>"); ICC-01/18-316 ("<u>Brazil</u>"); ICC-01/18-306 ("<u>Ireland</u>"); ICC-01/18-307 ("<u>Germany</u>"); ICC-01/18-284 ("<u>Chile & México</u>"); ICC-01/18-309 ("<u>South Africa, Bangladesh, Bolivia, Comoros, Djibouti</u>"); ICC-01/18-264 ("<u>Norway</u>"); ICC-01/18-269 ("<u>Argentina</u>") and ICC-01/18-329 ("<u>DRC</u>"). The USA also filed separately - ICC-01/18-300 ("<u>USA</u>").

30 other non-States Parties),⁵⁶ 41 academics and non-governmental organisations (individually or in groups),⁵⁷ and three individuals.⁵⁸

III. SUBMISSIONS

- 32. In the sections below, the Prosecution addresses key issues arising from the interveners' observations with the aim of assisting the Chamber in the expeditious resolution of the Article 58 Applications. The Prosecution has not sought to indicate its agreement or disagreement (as the case may be) with each and every of the many observations received by the Chamber.
- *First*, the Prosecution notes that the United Kingdom requested permission to provide observations solely on the Oslo Accords, which the Chamber considered to be an issue of "potential relevance". Accordingly, since the Chamber has not expressly determined which other issues addressed by the *amici curiae* are of potential relevance to its decisions under article 58, the Prosecution respectfully submits that observations relating to matters other than the Oslo Accords should be dismissed *in limine*. In any event, and to the extent that the Chamber decides to entertain these other observations, the Prosecution rests on its submissions advanced in the Applications. It stands ready to provide further submissions should the Chamber require it.
- Second, the Prosecution appreciates and shares the concerns raised by some interveners regarding the current rule 103 process. The Prosecution emphasises that article 58 proceedings are ex parte, with the effect that the Chamber decides solely on the basis of the Prosecution's submissions. Nor has the ex parte nature of the proceedings been altered. In this regard, the Chamber should not anticipate in its decision matters which might

ICC-01/18 23 August 2024

⁵⁶ ICC-01/18-268 ("OIC") and the ICC-01/18-282 ("League of Arab States").

⁵⁷ The academics include ICC-01/18-254 ("Quigley"); ICC-01/18-261 ("Zipperstein"); ICC-01/18-262 ("Heinsch & Pinzauti"); ICC-01/18-265 ("Shany & Cohen"); ICC-01/18-275 ("Gordon"); ICC-01/18-314 ("Shoaibi & Khalil"); ICC-01/18-278 ("Lynk & Falk"), ICC-01/18-279 ("Bachman et al."); ICC-01/18-285 ("Chilstein"); ICC-01/18-303 ("Haque"); ICC-01/18-257 ("Schabas"); and ICC-01/18-315 ("Hammouri"). The academic institutes consist of ICC-01/18-270 ("Macrocrimes"); ICC-01/18-277 ("USA Universities") and ICC-01/18-290 ("Al-Quds"). See also ICC-01/18-260 and ICC-01/18-260-Anx ("ECLJ"); ICC-01/18-321 ("JURDI & FIDH"); ICC-01/18-267 ("HLMG"); ICC-01/18-273 ("ALMA"); ICC-01/18-297 ("Touro Institute"); ICC-01/18-295 ("CUJS & WUJS"); ICC-01/18-293 ("CIJA"); ICC-01/18-313 ("IBA"); ICC-01/18-383 ("ICJP & SOAS"); ICC-01/18-310 ("JII"); ICC-01/18-281 ("JCPA & NGO Research"); ICC-01/18-301 ("The Hague Initiative"); ICC-01/18-286 ("AOHR UK"); ICC-01/18-317 ("OSJ, ECCHR, Redress, HRW, AI"); ICC-01/18-305 ("Hostages & Wallenberg"); ICC-01/18-288 ("Addameer"); ICC-01/18-298 ("IA Jewish Lawyers & Jurists"); ICC-01/18-308 ("Al-Haq et al."); ICC-01/18-331 ("ICHR") and ICC-01/18-272 ("UKLFI et al.").

⁵⁸ The three individuals are ICC-01/18-274 ("<u>Batra</u>"); ICC-01/18-304 ("<u>Graham</u>") and ICC-01/18-280 ("<u>Rosenbaum</u>").

⁵⁹ First Order, para. 5.

subsequently be raised, and called to be ruled upon, under article 19(2) of the Statute.

- *Third*, in ruling on the Article 58 Applications, the Chamber should affirm the Court's jurisdiction in this situation consistent with the Chamber's prior Article 19(3) Decision, which already determined, *inter alia*, the irrelevance of the Oslo Accords to the Court's jurisdiction. For the purpose of article 58, bearing in mind the *ex parte* nature of the proceedings, the Article 19(3) Decision has the effect of *res judicata*.
- *Fourth*, the Oslo Accords do not bar the exercise of the Court's jurisdiction, which is determined exclusively and exhaustively in the relevant respect by article 12 of the Statute.
- *Finally*, the cases identified by the Prosecution are admissible before the Court: Israel is not investigating the same persons for substantially the same conduct as alleged in the Article 58 Applications. There are no "uncontested facts" that render the cases inadmissible nor is there any "ostensible cause" otherwise compelling the Chamber to assess complementarity.

A. The observations unrelated to the Oslo Accords should be dismissed in limine

- 33. The United Kingdom requested permission to provide observations on the question of "[w]hether the Court can exercise jurisdiction over Israeli nationals, in circumstances where Palestine cannot exercise criminal jurisdiction over Israeli nationals pursuant to the Oslo Accords". ⁶⁰
- 34. In its First Order granting the UK Request, the Chamber noted "the potential relevance of the issue the United Kingdom wishes to address for the Chamber's assessment". ⁶¹ It further observed that "the Chamber's decision to grant the United Kingdom leave to file observations, may result in other requests to submit observations", and ordered that any such requests be submitted by 12 July 2024. ⁶² It follows that the Chamber's First Order must be understood as limiting the scope of the rule 103 process to the Oslo Accords.
- 35. In its Second Order granting the requests of almost all subsequent applicants under rule 103, the Chamber did not expand the thematic scope of the observations since it did not explain which other topics could also be of potential relevance to its decisions.⁶³ Accordingly, the scope of the allowed observations remained limited to the Oslo Accords, which was the topic raised

-

⁶⁰ <u>First Order</u> para. 1.

⁶¹ First Order, para. 5.

⁶² First Order, para. 6.

⁶³ Second Order, para. 10 ("[...]the Chamber has evaluated the requests received to assess whether the observations proposed are desirable for the proper determination of the case").

by the United Kingdom and the sole issue identified by the Chamber as being of "potential relevance". This interpretation is consistent with the Court's prior practice in which chambers clearly delimited the questions for interveners to address under rule 103 and to which the Prosecution may respond.⁶⁴

36. This notwithstanding, many interveners provided observations on topics unrelated to the Oslo Accords, including on the merits of the Applications, even if they are not publicly available. Accordingly, the Prosecution respectfully requests dismissal *in limine* of such observations. To the extent that the Chamber decides to consider them, the Prosecution rests on the submissions it advanced in the Applications and herein. It stands ready to provide further submissions should the Chamber require it.

B. The article 58 proceedings are ex parte and have a limited purpose

37. The Prosecution notes the tension between the present rule 103 process and the article 58 proceedings highlighted by some interveners. The Prosecution emphasises that proceedings leading to article 58 decisions are *ex parte*, in the sense that the Chamber must decide solely on the basis of the information provided by the Prosecution. The Prosecutor's public announcement prior to the filing of the Applications could not and did not affect the *ex parte* nature of the subsequent article 58 proceedings, which is specified by the Court's legal framework. Notwithstanding the Chambers' bounded discretion to receive observations under rule 103, the Chamber should consider the limited purpose and *ex parte* nature of the article 58 proceedings and not rule on matters that do not arise from the Prosecution's Application and that are not necessary to its determination.

38. *First*, there is no doubt that article 58 proceedings are, and must remain, *ex parte* in the sense that the Prosecutor is the only party.⁶⁶ This means that, when seised of an application by the Prosecutor under article 58, the Pre-Trial Chamber decides solely on the basis of the

ICC-01/18 23 August 2024

 $^{^{64}}$ See e.g. <u>ICC-02/04-01/15-1884 A</u>, para. 19; <u>ICC-01/04-02/06-2554 A2</u>, para. 15; <u>ICC-02/18-78 OA</u>, para. 7; ICC-01/09-02/11-898, para. 7.

⁶⁵ See e.g. <u>JURDI & FIDH</u>, paras. 3-4; <u>Colombia</u>, paras. 10-11; <u>Lynk & Falk</u>, paras. 1-2; <u>Al-Haq et al.</u>, paras. 3-14; <u>OPCV</u>, para. 2; <u>Gallagher</u>, para. 10; <u>OPCD</u>, para. 2; <u>Gallagher</u>, para. 9.

⁶⁶ ICC-01/09-35, para. 10 ("the proceedings triggered by the Prosecutor's application for a warrant of arrest or a summons to appear are to be conducted on an *ex parte* basis. The only communication envisaged at the article 58 this stage [sic] is conducted between the Pre-Trial Chamber and the Prosecutor"); ICC-01/09-42, para. 16 ("[i]n qualifying the proceedings under article 58 of the Statute as *ex parte*, the Chamber indicates that the proceedings are to be conducted 'without [...] argument by any person adversely interested" and "the concrete factual circumstances are not of relevance and cannot ground the modification of the *ex parte* nature of these proceedings"), *see also* paras. 18-20, 23 ("the proceedings under article 58 of the Statute are to be conducted with the exclusive participation of the Prosecutor"); *see also* Ryngaert, C., "Article 58" in Ambos (ed.), *Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court: Article-by-Article Commentary*, 4th ed. (Beck/Hart Publishing: München, 2022), p. 1717, mn. 8.

information and evidence presented by the Prosecutor.⁶⁷ Indeed, the Court's legal framework does not foresee the involvement of other parties or participants (whether potential suspects, States, victims or other actors) in responding to or providing observations with regard to article 58 applications before the Pre-Trial Chamber, 68 including on matters of jurisdiction and admissibility. The Appeals Chamber has confirmed as much.⁶⁹

- This absence of other parties or participants in article 58 proceedings is consistent with their non-adversarial character, limited purpose, and the applicable evidentiary threshold they merely serve to initiate a prosecution on the basis of reasonable grounds to believe that a person has committed a crime within the Court's jurisdiction.⁷⁰ It is also consistent with an interpretation of article 58 that accords with other provisions of the Court's legal framework, which allow for matters of jurisdiction and admissibility to be properly raised by relevant actors at other stages of the proceedings. 71 For this reason, the Appeals Chamber has warned that Pre-Trial Chambers seised of article 58 applications should generally refrain from addressing matters, such as complementarity, which might subsequently be raised under article 19(2) of the Statute before the same Chamber. 72 This is necessary to avoid pre-determining questions to the detriment of a suspect who is not allowed to participate in the article 58 proceedings but has a specific avenue to raise these matters after the decision is issued.⁷³
- There is no basis to depart in this situation from the Court's consistent jurisprudence emphasising the exclusive participation of the Prosecution in article 58 proceedings before the Pre-Trial Chamber.⁷⁴

ICC-01/18 16/49 23 August 2024

⁶⁷ Statute, art. 58(1) ("At any time after the initiation of an investigation, the Pre-Trial Chamber shall, on the application of the Prosecutor, issue a warrant of arrest of a person if, having examined the application and the evidence or other information submitted by the Prosecutor, it is satisfied that [..]") (emphasis added); see also ICC-01/09-35, para. 10 ("[t]he only communication envisaged at the article 58 [...] stage is conducted between the Pre-Trial Chamber and the Prosecutor"); ICC-01/09-42, paras. 6, 10 ("the evaluation to be carried out by the Pre-Trial Chamber in the current proceedings is centred on a determination as to the sufficiency of evidence and material presented by the Prosecutor in establishing reasonable grounds to believe that the conditions provided for in article 58 of the Statute have been met"); see also para. 11 (noting that "there have been no instances wherein victims or amici curiae have been allowed to participate in the proceedings under article 58 of the Statute before a Pre-Trial Chamber").

⁶⁸ See <u>ICC-01/09-42</u>, paras. 11, 16, 18; <u>Gallagher</u>, para. 10.

⁶⁹ <u>DRC Arrest Warrant Appeal Judgment</u>, para. 45 ("article 58 [...] foresees that the Pre-Trial Chamber takes its decision on the application for a warrant of arrest on the basis of the information and evidence provided by the Prosecutor").

⁷⁰ Statute, art. 58(1)-(2); see Van Hooydonk & Dixon, para. 8 ("The specific role of the Pre-Trial Chamber is to examine the Prosecutor's request and satisfy itself hat the requirements of Article 58(1) have indeed been met"); see also South Africa, Bangladesh, Bolivia, Comoros, Djibouti, para. 33.

⁷¹ See Van Hooydonk & Dixon, paras. 6-7; Parker & Quzmar, para. 32; OPCV, para. 25; Devers, para. 17...

⁷² <u>DRC Arrest Warrant Appeal Judgment</u>, paras. 48-51.

⁷³ *DRC* Arrest Warrant Appeal Judgment, paras. 48-51; OPCD, paras. 26-27. ⁷⁴ ICC-01/09-35; ICC-01/09-42; ICC-01/09-43; ICC-01/09-47.

- 41. *Second*, the Prosecutor's public announcement of his intention to submit the Article 58 Applications could not and did not change the *ex parte* nature of the subsequent article 58 proceedings—which is determined by the Court's legal framework, and which is formally distinct from the classification of judicial records.⁷⁵ Proceedings can be *ex parte* (Prosecutor only), yet filings made public. Nor did the Prosecutor's decision to consult with external experts affect the *ex parte* nature of these proceedings. This fell within the exercise of the Prosecutor's independent mandate and his full authority over the management of his Office, consistent with article 42 of the Statute.
- 42. In fact, this is far from the first time that article 58 proceedings have been publicly acknowledged. In at least the *Darfur*, ⁷⁶ *Kenya*, ⁷⁷ *Libya*, ⁷⁸ and *Georgia* ⁷⁹ situations, the Prosecutor publicly announced the filing of article 58 applications with respect to at least thirteen persons in 2008, in 2010, in 2011, and in 2022. This did not change the *ex parte* nature of the ensuing article 58 proceedings. In all those cases the Chambers ruled on the Prosecution's applications on the basis of the Prosecution's submissions only. There is no reason to treat this situation differently. Notably, in *Kenya*, the Pre-Trial Chamber expressly rejected requests to provide observations—even by the suspects named in the applications—precisely because of the non-adversarial and *ex parte* nature of the proceedings. ⁸⁰ Likewise, the *Chambers Practice Manual* acknowledges the possibility of public article 58 proceedings while underscoring their *ex parte* nature and the absence of standing even for the suspect in question. ⁸¹
- 43. This same rationale must apply even more strongly for third parties who request permission to make observations as *amici curiae* under rule 103 within the context of article 58 proceedings. Any other approach would not only undermine the *ex parte* nature of the proceedings, it would also lead to the absurd result that third parties possess greater procedural

⁷⁵ See Regulations of the Registry, regulation 14 (levels of confidentiality). As such, proceedings may be *ex parte* (for example, limited only to one party, such as the Prosecution) but yet the filing may still be public (if there is no requirement for confidentiality).

⁷⁶ ICC Prosecutor presents case against Sudanese President, Hassan Ahmad AL BASHIR, for genocide, crimes against humanity and war crimes in Darfur, 14 July 2008.

⁷⁷ Kenya's post election violence: ICC Prosecutor presents cases against six individuals for crimes against humanity, 15 December 2010.

⁷⁸ Statement of the Prosecutor of the International Criminal Court, Luis Moreno-Ocampo in relation to Libya, 16 May 2011.

⁷⁹ ICC Prosecutor, Karim A.A. Khan QC, announces application for arrest warrants in the Situation in Georgia, 10 March 2022.

⁸⁰ ICC-01/09-42, para. 22 ("the Chamber is not of the view that such publicity caused could ground a construction of the proceedings of article 58 in adversarial terms contrary to the legal instruments of the Court").

⁸¹ 2023 Chambers Practice Manual, para. 3 ("[e]ven if the proceedings are public (which is however not recommended), the person whose arrest/appearance is sought does not have standing to make submissions on the merits of the application").

rights than the suspect. Such an approach might enable persons or entities to approach the Court providing unwanted and unhelpful observations without full candour as to their connections to the suspects or the situation.⁸²

Third, notwithstanding that the Chamber has a bounded discretion to receive observations under rule 103,83 this discretion is not unfettered and must be exercised in accordance with the Court's legal framework governing the stage of proceedings. 84 This means that the receipt of rule 103 observations cannot in any way alter the *ex parte* nature of article 58 proceedings. Nor can these observations become de facto (and non-permitted) jurisdictional or admissibility challenges by third parties, where such challenges are not provided for under article 19(2) of the Statute. 85 The Chamber must exercise care not to pre-determine matters which do not arise from the Prosecution's submissions under article 58 and which can be properly raised at other stages of the proceedings.⁸⁶ Indeed, the receipt of observations under rule 103 should not subvert the limited scope and purpose of the article 58 proceedings and the carefully delineated legal framework that affords rights to suspects and certain States to raise issues of jurisdiction and admissibility pursuant to article 19(2) after article 58 decisions are rendered.⁸⁷ Thus, as the Appeals Chamber has expressly confirmed, while the Chamber may exercise its discretion to address matters of admissibility for the purpose of article 58, it should do so only exceptionally, such as when there are "uncontested facts" that render a case clearly inadmissible or there is "an ostensible cause" impelling such *proprio motu* review. 88 Likewise, even if the Chamber must satisfy itself of jurisdiction under article 19(1), it must do so on the basis of the facts and circumstances contained in the Prosecutor's Applications and—in this situation—in light of the decision already rendered under article 19(3) on 5 February 2021 which, among other

⁸² Cf. Gallagher, para. 11; Heinsch & Pinzauti, fn. 2; Van Hooydonk & Dixon, para. 2.

⁸³ First Order, para. 3. Chambers have required proposed observations under rule 103 to be desirable in assisting them in resolving questions requiring their determination: see e.g. ICC-02/04-01/15-1955 A A2, para. 12; ICC-02/18-78 OA, para. 8; ICC-01/04-02/06-2569 A2, para. 9 and ICC-01/04-02/06-2554 A2, para. 11; ICC-02/04-01/15-1914 A A2, para. 15 and ICC-02/04-01/15-1884 A, para. 19; ICC-02/17-97 OA OA1 OA2 OA3 OA4, para. 31; ICC-01/11-01/11-675 OA8, para. 9; ICC-02/05-01/09-330, para. 1. Chambers have also required that proposed observations under rule 103 are not repetitive: ICC-01/05-01/08-602 OA2, para. 11; ICC-01/09-01/11-988 OA5, para. 12. Chambers have sometimes required that the amici possess sufficient qualifications or expertise: ICC-02/04-01/15-1884 A, para. 19; ICC-01/04-02/06-2554 A2, para. 11; see also Van Hooydonk & Dixon, para. 15. ⁸⁴ Devers, paras. 12-13.

⁸⁵ Palestine, p. 5 ("The Court cannot do through the backdoor of Rule 103 what is not permitted by the text of the Rome Statute itself"); Van Hooydonk & Dixon, para. 7.

⁸⁶ DRC Arrest Warrant Appeal Judgment, paras. 48-51; OPCD, paras. 26-27.
87 Cf. Colombia, para. 10; OPCV, para. 2; Al-Haq et al., para. 18; Parker & Quzmar, para. 32; Devers, para. 17. ⁸⁸ DRC Arrest Warrant Appeal Judgment, para. 52.

issues, already addressed the Oslo Accords and settled this question.⁸⁹

C. The Article 19(3) Decision addressed the Oslo Accords and is settled law

- 45. As part of the existing ruling on jurisdiction in the Article 19(3) Decision, the Chamber has already concluded by majority that the Oslo Accords do not bar the exercise of the Court's jurisdiction in initiating an investigation. As OPCV puts it, "the matter should have ended there". Indeed, in the present *ex parte* context, this ruling is functionally equivalent to *res judicata* and does not need to be revisited. In support of this conclusion, the Prosecution recalls the specific purpose of the procedure under article 19(3), the thorough and open process adopted by the Chamber leading to its Article 19(3) Decision, and the specific reasoning of the decision itself.
- 46. Upon the Prosecution's suggestion in its Article 19(3) Request of 22 January 2020, in which the Prosecution sought early resolution of the territorial scope of the Court's jurisdiction in this situation, 93 the Chamber expressly invited Israel 94 as well as other States, organisations and/or persons to provide observations on the question identified by the Prosecution. 95 Although Israel chose not to provide observations, numerous legal representatives of victims, States Parties, intergovernmental organisations, and *amici curiae* responded to the Chamber's call. Since many of the participants provided observations on the purported impact of the Oslo Accords, the Chamber chose to address this question, "[f]or the sake of completeness". 96
- 47. In the Article 19(3) Decision, the majority agreed with the Prosecution and various other participants that the Oslo Accords were "not pertinent to the resolution of the issue under

ICC-01/18 19/49 23 August 2024

⁸⁹ There is no "clear error of reasoning" or a need "to prevent an injustice" that would justify reconsideration of the Article 19(3) Decision: <u>ICC-02/05-01/20-650</u>, para. 10; <u>ICC-02/05-01/20-938-Red</u>, paras. 13, 56; <u>ICC-01/14-01/21-275</u>, para. 8; <u>ICC-01/12-01/18-1330</u>, para. 4; <u>ICC-01/12-01/18-734</u>, para. 11; <u>ICC-02/04-01/15-468</u>, para. 4; <u>ICC-01/05-01/13-1282</u>, para. 8; <u>ICC-01/04-02/06-519</u>, para. 12; <u>ICC-01/09-01/11-1813</u>, para. 19.

⁹⁰ Article 19(3) Decision, para. 129.

⁹¹ OPCV, para. 23.

⁹² See e.g. Chile & México, paras. 7-10; South Africa, Bangladesh, Bolivia, Comoros, Djibouti, para. 32; <u>USA Universities</u>, paras. 2-3; <u>OPCV</u>, paras. 3, 12, 23; <u>Al-Haq et al.</u>, paras. 8, 18; <u>Van Hooydonk & Dixon</u>, paras. 2, 9; <u>Al Shouli & Al Masry</u>, paras. 5, 8.

Prosecutor Request, para. 220. The resolution of this question necessarily required answering the question whether Palestine was a State for the purposes of the exercise of the Court's jurisdiction under article 12(2)(a). In its decision of 5 February 2021, Pre-Trial Chamber I resolved the two questions and unanimously found that Palestine was a State Party to the Statute and by majority, Judge Kovács dissenting, that "Palestine qualifies as '[t]he State on the territory of which the conduct in question occurred' for the purposes of article 12(2)(a)" and "that the Court's territorial jurisdiction in the Situation in Palestine extends to the territories occupied by Israel since 1967, namely Gaza and the West Bank, including East Jerusalem": Article 19(3) Decision, p. 60.

⁹⁴ Article 19(3) Order, para. 16 ("The Chamber notes that Israel has an interest in the adjudication of the Prosecutor's Request and, accordingly, invites Israel to submit written observations of no more than 30 pages by no later than 16 March 2020"). The Prosecutor made a similar request: Prosecutor Request, para. 6.

⁹⁵ Article 19(3) Order, para. 15.

⁹⁶ Article 19(3) Decision, para. 124.

consideration, namely the scope of the Court's territorial jurisdiction in Palestine" and could be raised in other contexts "rather than in relation to a question of jurisdiction in connection with the initiation of an investigation by the Prosecutor". 97 Echoing the approach of the *Afghanistan* Appeals Chamber with respect to certain agreements between the USA and Afghanistan, 98 the Chamber identified two scenarios where the Oslo Accords might nonetheless be raised again at later stages of the proceedings, namely:

- By the requested State as a possible impediment to executing requests for cooperation or judicial assistance ("RFA") under articles 97 and 98 of the Statute. 99
- By interested States based on article 19 of the Statute. ¹⁰⁰ It is understood that the Chamber considered the issues potentially arising from the Oslo Accords as going to the question of admissibility pursuant to article 19, as submitted by the Prosecutor. ¹⁰¹ This also follows from the closely preceding finding that issues concerning the Oslo Accords were "not pertinent" to the scope of the Court's territorial jurisdiction. ¹⁰²
- 48. The approach in the Article 19(3) Decision to the Oslo Accords remains equally applicable for the purpose of the current proceedings under article 58. Neither of the two scenarios identified above is applicable: no material request for cooperation has been made, nor have the Oslo Accords been raised by a requested State as an obstacle to such cooperation. In addition, no State or other relevant person can make challenge under article 19(2) at this stage. Indeed, prior to the Chamber's decision under article 58, there is no standing to make such a challenge under article 19(2). This is made clear not only by the reference to a "case" in the *chapeau* of article 19(2), but also by the express recognition in article 19(2)(a) that a jurisdictional challenge by a natural person is ripe only once "a warrant of arrest or a summons to appear has been issued". Interpreting article 19(2) in context indicates that the same restriction applies to articles 19(2)(b) and (c). This would be "the earliest opportunity" foreseen in article 19(5) for a State to submit a challenge under article 19(2). The Appeals Chamber has confirmed as much. It has held that:

⁹⁷ Article 19(3) Decision, para. 129.

⁹⁸ ICC-02/17-138 ("Afghanistan Appeal Judgment"), para. 44; see Van Hooydonk & Dixon, paras. 11-12.

⁹⁹ Article 19(3) Decision, paras. 127-128.

¹⁰⁰ Article 19(3) Decision, para. 129.

Prosecutor Request, para. 185, cited in Article 19(3) Decision, para. 25; see also South Africa, Bangladesh, Bolivia, Comoros, Djibouti, para. 31.

¹⁰² Article 19(3) Decision, para. 129.

See South Africa, Bangladesh, Bolivia, Comoros, Djibouti, para. 30

¹⁰⁴ OPCV, para. 25.

[A]rticle 19 of the Statute relates to the admissibility of *concrete cases*. The cases are defined by the *warrant of arrest or summons to appear issued under article 58*, or the charges brought by the Prosecutor and confirmed by the Pre-Trial Chamber under article 61. *Article 58 requires that for a warrant of arrest or a summons to appear to be issued*, there must be reasonable grounds to believe that the person named therein has committed a crime within the jurisdiction of the Court. ¹⁰⁵

- 49. In its original request, the United Kingdom misinterpreted the reasoning in the Article 19(3) Decision on the Oslo Accords, and appears to have erroneously taken into account in this regard a concluding and unrelated paragraph. ¹⁰⁶ In any event, nothing in that paragraph—which recalls that, "[w]hen the Prosecutor submits an [article 58] application [], *or* if a State or suspect submits a challenge under article 19(2) of the Statute, the Chamber will be in a position to examine *further questions of jurisdiction* which may arise at that point in time" ¹⁰⁷—suggests that the Oslo Accords raise any questions of jurisdiction. To the contrary, this is contradicted by the reasoning discussed above, which considers the potential relevance of the Oslo Accords only to cooperation and admissibility, and not to jurisdiction at all.
- 50. Moreover, the Chamber's emphasis in the Article 19(3) Decision on the possibility of addressing "further questions of jurisdiction" ¹⁰⁸ is consistent with the view that, at least in the absence of a relevant challenge under article 19(2) of the Statute, the matters which have already been addressed should be regarded as the law of the case—including for the purpose of proceedings under article 58 and article 19(1) of the Statute. Even with respect to article 21(2) of the Statute, the Appeals Chamber has held that it will not readily exercise its discretion to depart from its own prior jurisprudence, absent convincing reasons, given the need to ensure predictability of the law and the fairness of adjudication so as to foster public reliance on its decisions. ¹⁰⁹ These considerations apply even more strongly to jurisdictional rulings under

ICC-01/18 21/49 23 August 2024

¹⁰⁵ ICC-01/09-01/11-307 ("<u>Ruto et al. Admissibility AD</u>"), para. 40 (emphasis added); see also para. 41. See further ICC-01/04-101-tEN-Corr, para. 65 (finding that "[c]ases, which comprise specific incidents during which one or more crimes within the jurisdiction of the Court seem to have been committed by one or more identified suspects, entail proceedings that take place after the issuance of a warrant of arrest or a summons to appear."); ICC-01/04-93, p. 4 (considering that "challenges to the jurisdiction of the Court or the admissibility of a case pursuant to article 19(2)(a) of the Statute may only be made by an accused person or a person for whom a warrant of arrest or a summons to appear has been issued under article 58", and concluding that since "at this stage of the proceedings no warrant of arrest or summons to appear has been issued and thus no case has arisen; and that the Ad hoc Counsel for the Defence has no procedural standing to make a challenge under article 19(2)(a) of the Statute"); <u>DRC Arrest Warrant Appeal Judgment</u>, para. 51.

¹⁰⁶ <u>UK Request, para. 10. See Al-Haq et al.</u>, paras. 8-10; <u>Van Hooydonk & Dixon</u>, para. 10; <u>Parker & Quzmar</u>, para. 28..

¹⁰⁷ Article 19(3) Decision, para. 131 (emphasis added).

Article 19(3) Decision, para. 131 (emphasis added).

¹⁰⁹ ICC-02/11-01/15-172 ("Gbagbo Victims Participation Decision"), para. 14 (finding that "while the Appeals Chamber has discretion to depart from its previous jurisprudence, it will not readily do so, given the need to ensure predictability of the law and the fairness of adjudication to foster public reliance on its decisions" and referring to

article 19(3), which are precisely intended to provide legal clarity and certainty for the purpose of subsequent proceedings. ¹¹⁰ In such circumstances, at least to the extent that there is no new party to the proceedings, a doctrine akin to *res judicata* should apply. ¹¹¹ Notably, as stated above, article 58 proceedings are *ex parte* in nature and the Prosecutor remains the only party in both. By contrast, the right of the suspect and/or States with standing to enter into questions of jurisdiction or admissibility which were addressed without their participation is adequately secured by article 19(2). Such a right, however, does not arise until after the Chamber has positively ruled on a request under article 58.

D. The Oslo Accords do not and cannot bar the Court's exercise of jurisdiction over Israeli nationals for crimes committed in the oPt

51. Certain interveners argue that the Oslo Accords bar the exercise of the Court's jurisdiction over international crimes committed on the territory of the State of Palestine by Israeli nationals. This argument is without merit. *First*, it is inconsistent with the Statute when interpreted in accordance with ordinary modes of treaty interpretation under international law and the Court's consistent jurisprudence, and wrongly seeks to treat the State of Palestine differently from every other State Party. *Second*, the argument that the Oslo Accords bar jurisdiction is premised on a misunderstanding of foundational concepts of jurisdiction under international law, including under the law of occupation, as well as their implications for the Court's exercise of jurisdiction under the Statute.

a. The Court's jurisdiction is regulated by the Statute

52. The Rome Statute establishes and defines the scope and exercise of the Court's

ICC-01/18 22/49 23 August 2024

ICC-01/05-01/08-566, para. 16 where the Appeals Chamber found that absent 'convincing reasons' it will not depart from its previous decisions), cited in ICC-01/14-01/21-318, para. 45. See also ICTY, Prosecutor v. Aleksovski, IT-95-14/1-A, Judgement, 24 Marc 2000 ("Aleksovski AJ") paras. 107-109; Rutaganda AJ, para. 26. ¹¹⁰ See also Aleksovski AJ, para. 97 (where the Appeals Chamber recalled that the need for consistency, certainty and predictability in the law is generally recognized in national jurisdictions, both of common law and civil law traditions, as well as before international tribunals).

¹¹¹ See e.g. MICT, Prosecutor v. Karadžić, MICT-13-55-A, Decision on a Motion for Redacted Versions of Decisions Issued under Rule 75(H) of the ICTY Rules, 18 July 2016, p. 4 (where the MICT Appeals Chamber noted that "legal certainty presupposes respect for the principle of res judicata, which holds that no party is entitled to seek a review of a final and binding decision or judgment merely for the purpose of obtaining a rehearing and a fresh determination of the same issue"); see also Prosecutor v. Simić and al., IT-95-9, Decision on (1) Application by S. Todorovic to Re-open the Decision of 27 July 1999, (2) Motion by ICRC to Re-Open Scheduling Order of 18 November 1999, and (3) Conditions for Access to Material, 28 February 2000, para. 9 ("the principle of res judicata would prevent the Prosecution from raising that specific issue again in any interlocutory proceedings between it and the ICRC unless the Trial Chamber itself were prepared to reconsider its decision"); Prosecutor v. Prlić and al., IT-04-74-T, Decision on Prlić Defence Request for Certification to Appeal, 7 December 2009, p. 3 (where the Chamber dismissed a request for certification to appeal and applied the principle of res judicata to a procedural issue that had been previously resolved).

jurisdiction. Article 5 of the Statute endows the Court with jurisdiction over the most serious crimes of concern to the international community as a whole. Article 11, not at issue in these proceedings, sets conditions for the Court's temporal jurisdiction. Article 12 sets certain preconditions to the exercise of jurisdiction and Article 13 provides for triggers for the exercise of jurisdiction. Leaving aside questions of jurisdiction over the crime of aggression, subject to its own regime, these provisions of the Statute establish a clear and straightforward scheme governing the existence and exercise of the Court's jurisdiction.

- 53. Pursuant to article 12(1), a "State which becomes a Party to this Statute thereby accepts the jurisdiction of the Court with respect to the crimes referred to in article 5." Thereafter, under article 12(2) of the Statute, and leaving aside referrals by the Security Council, the Court's jurisdiction is defined by the two classical and universally accepted bases of jurisdiction under general international law—territoriality under article 12(2)(a) and nationality under article 12(2)(b). The territorial principle as a basis of jurisdiction, in this sense, refers to the plenary competence of States to regulate persons, conduct, and events on their territory. It is an inherent aspect of sovereignty, the with its scope defined by customary international law. As noted by the Pre-Trial Chamber in *Bangladesh/Myanmar*: "provided that part of the *actus reus* takes place within the territory of a State Party, the Court may thus exercise territorial jurisdiction within the limits prescribed by customary international law."
- 54. In summary, therefore, when a State becomes a party to the Statute, it accepts the jurisdiction of the Court. The Court is endowed with jurisdiction in relation to crimes committed on the State's territory or by its nationals. This creates a simple and unitary scheme for the Court such that it may exercise jurisdiction according to consistent and established principles in relation to crimes committed on the territory of each of its 124 States Parties.

b. The Oslo Accords objection

55. The Oslo Accords comprise the Declaration of Principles on Interim Self-Government Arrangements of 1993 (Oslo I)¹¹⁹ and the Interim Agreement on the West Bank and the Gaza

¹¹² Statute, article 15bis.

¹¹³ Statute, article 12(1).

Schabas and Pecorella, 'Article 12' in Ambos (2021), p. 816-817.

¹¹⁵ O'Keefe (2016), p. 5; Crawford, *Brownlie's Principles* (2021), p. 440.

¹¹⁶ Crawford, Brownlie's Principles (2021), p. 440.

¹¹⁷ <u>ICC-01/19-27</u>, para. 55.

¹¹⁸ ICC-01/19-27, para. 61.

¹¹⁹ Oslo I.

Strip of 1995 (Oslo II). 120 They should be considered an agreement between an occupying power (Israel) and a local authority (the Palestinian Liberation Organization) regulating aspects of the occupation, ¹²¹ as foreseen by article 47 of GCIV. ¹²² Yet, as made explicit in article 47 of GCIV, and as recently applied by the ICJ in its Advisory Opinion of 19 July 2024, such an agreement shall not "in any case or in any manner whatsoever" deprive protected persons of the benefits of the Convention¹²³ or "be understood to detract from Israel's obligations under the pertinent rules of international law."124

- 56. Article 17 of Oslo II makes provision for the jurisdiction of the Palestinian Council. This jurisdiction is to be exercised in the West Bank and Gaza Strip as a single territorial unit, subject to certain limitations. 125 Annex IV to Oslo II sets out a Protocol on Legal Affairs. The Protocol makes more detailed arrangements for the exercise of criminal jurisdiction in the Territory by the Palestinian Council. 126 It states in article I(2) that: "Israel has sole criminal jurisdiction over the following offenses: [...] (b) offenses committed in the Territory by Israelis." It also makes provision for forms of assistance and cooperation between the occupying power and the Palestinian Council. 127
- The primary argument of certain interveners, with slight variations, is based on the proposition that the Oslo Accords did not grant to the Palestinian Council the power to exercise criminal jurisdiction over Israeli nationals. ¹²⁸ Asserting an application of the principle of *nemo* dat quod non habet, these interveners propose that because the Palestinian Council could not exercise jurisdiction over Israeli nationals under the Oslo Accords, the Court cannot do so today under article 12 of the Statute. The consequence of this contention, if correct, would be that the State of Palestine's ratification of the Rome Statute did not have the ordinary effect of endowing the Court with jurisdiction over crimes committed on its territory. It would also mean that ratifying the Statute did not have the same effect for the State of Palestine that it has had for each of the other 123 States Parties to the Statute. Rather, it would mean that the State of

ICC-01/18 24/49 23 August 2024

¹²⁰ Oslo II.

¹²¹ ICJ Advisory Opinion, para. 102.

¹²² GCIV, article 47.

¹²³ GCIV, article 47; *ICJ Advisory Opinion*, para. 102.

¹²⁴ ICJ Advisory Opinion, para. 102.

Oslo II, article XVII(1).

¹²⁶ Annex IV - Protocol on Legal Affairs.

127 Annex IV - Protocol on Legal Affairs, articles II, III, IV.

ECLJ, paras. 8-13; Zipperstein, paras. 18-22; Shany & Cohen, paras. 10-17; JCPA & NGO Research, paras. 12-30; Hungary, paras. 22-27; Touro Institute, paras. 5-13; Argentina, para. 10; CIJA, paras. 4-13; Bachman et al., paras. 3-10; Graham, paras. 16-18; Czech Republic, paras. 5-10; JIJ, 2-13; The Hague Initiative, para. 4-29; USA, paras. 11-15; Hostages & Wallenberg, paras. 14-17; IA Jewish Lawyers & Jurists, paras. 13-26; DRC, paras. 23-27; UKLFI et al., paras. 9-14.

Palestine's ratification took effect with a qualification: that the Court has jurisdiction over crimes committed on the territory of the State of Palestine except when committed by Israelis.

c. The Oslo Accords objection is without merit

- 58. The Oslo Accords objection is without merit. *First*, it is inconsistent with the proper interpretation and application of article 12 of the Statute and wrongly seeks to treat the State of Palestine differently from every other State Party to the Statute. *Second*, it misunderstands basic concepts of jurisdiction under international law, including under the law of occupation, and how these concepts relate to the interpretation and application of the Statute.
 - i. The Oslo Accords objection is incompatible with the proper interpretation and application of article 12 of the Statute
- 59. The argument of certain interveners that the Oslo Accords bar the exercise of the Court's jurisdiction over international crimes committed on the territory of the State of Palestine by Israeli nationals is inconsistent with article 12 of the Rome Statute. Indeed, the Oslo Accords are irrelevant to the interpretation and application of article 12 of the Statute.
- 60. Two preliminary points are crucial.
- *First*, in relation to applicable law, article 21(1) provides: "The 'Court shall apply: ...In the first place, this Statute, Elements of Crimes and its Rules of Procedure and Evidence." As confirmed by the Appeals Chamber in *Ntaganda*, "[r]ecourse to other sources of law is possible only if there is a lacuna in these constituent instruments." Put another way, if a matter is "exhaustively dealt with by" the text of the Statute, "no room is left for recourse" to other sources of law. 131
- *Second*, in interpreting the Statute, "chambers of the Court have unanimously and systematically based their interpretation of the Statute on the principles established" in the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties ("VCLT"). ¹³² In particular, article 31(1) of the VCLT provides: "A treaty shall be interpreted in good faith in accordance with the ordinary meaning to be given to the terms of the treaty in their context and in the light of its object and purpose." ¹³³
- 61. Taking these points in turn, article 21(1) specifies that it is the Statute itself that must be

ICC-01/18 25/49 23 August 2024

¹²⁹ Statute, article 21(1).

¹³⁰ ICC-01/04-02/06-1962 OA5, para 53.

¹³¹ ICC-01/04-01/06-772, para 34. See also ICC-01/04-168, para. 39; Article 19(3) Decision, paras. 88, 111.

¹³² ICC-01/04-01/07, para 43.

¹³³ VCLT, article 31(1).

applied in determining the scope of the Court's jurisdiction. As the Chamber held in the Article 19(3) Decision, the Statute exhaustively regulates the preconditions to the Court's exercise of jurisdiction. There is no *lacuna* here, no gap that requires recourse to other sources of law. Article 12 determines the existence and scope of the Court's jurisdiction in this matter.

- 62. In this respect, applying the general rule of interpretation in the VCLT leads to the straightforward conclusion that article 12 establishes a unitary scheme of territorial jurisdiction with no exceptions. The scheme is unitary in the sense that it applies in the same manner to all State Parties. It has no exceptions in the sense that it applies in relation to every person who commits a crime within the jurisdiction of the Court on the territory of the State Party. ¹³⁷ Each of the ingredients ¹³⁸ of the general rule of interpretation under article 31(1) of the VCLT, which are to be considered holistically in good faith, ¹³⁹ supports this conclusion.
- 63. *First*, the *ordinary meaning* of the relevant terms of article 12 is clear: "[T]he Court may exercise its jurisdiction if one or more of the following States are Parties to this Statute [...]: (a) The State on the territory of which the conduct in question occurred." The text itself admits no exceptions, exemptions, immunities, or carve-outs. It does not allow for variable application across different States Parties. It makes no provision for bilateral or other agreements to limit the exercise of the Court's jurisdiction.¹⁴⁰
- 64. *Second*, three aspects of the *context* of article 12 support this interpretation of the establishment of a unitary scheme with no exceptions:
- Article 27 of the Statute provides for the irrelevance of official capacity of any person to
 the exercise of the Court's jurisdiction. No immunity or special procedural rule—whether
 under national law or international law—bars the Court from exercising its jurisdiction.¹⁴¹
 It makes no sense to assert that the Statute explicitly excludes exemptions from the exercise

¹³⁴ Article 19(3) Decision, para. 111.

Norway, para. 13; South Africa, Bangladesh, Bolivia, Comoros, Djibouti, para 18; Palestine, p. 5. See also JURDI & FIDH, para. 9; Law for Palestine, para. 16; Devers, paras. 19-20.

¹³⁶ See <u>Brazil</u>, para. 18 ("Additionally, the jurisdiction of the Court [...] is [...] subject to its own set of exhaustive preconditions set forth by the Rome Statute. Once these preconditions are met and jurisdiction is established, no other considerations are pertinent in order to establish the scope and outreach of the ICC's jurisdiction").

¹³⁷ Article 26 of the Statute provides that the Court shall have no jurisdiction over persons under the age of 18 at the time of the alleged commission of the crime.

¹³⁸ ICC-01/04-01/07, para 45.

¹³⁹ ICC-01/04-01/07</sup>, para 45.

¹⁴⁰ Palestine, p. 6; Chile & México, para. 3

¹⁴¹ Statute, article 27(2). See ICJ Norway & Defend IL, para. 17.

- of jurisdiction in all cases under article 27 while allowing them to operate through the back door under article 12.¹⁴²
- Article 120 of the Statute provides: "No reservations may be made to this Statute." Evident, here, is that the Statute, except as otherwise explicitly provided, 143 establishes a unitary framework for the exercise of jurisdiction. Just as a State cannot accept the jurisdiction of the Court subject to a formal reservation seeking to exempt one category of people, so any functional equivalents 144 should not be smuggled in through the interpretation of other provisions. 145
- Articles 97 and 98 of the Statute make clear that the drafters of the Statute were well aware that States might bear certain obligations which appear to conflict with obligations under the Statute. As held by the Chamber in the Article 19(3) Decision and discussed in more detail below, and as is evident in their placement within Part 9 of the Statute concerning International Cooperation and Judicial Assistance, any such conflicting obligations are not relevant to the existence and exercise of the Court's jurisdiction under article 12. Indeed, their presence in Part 9 shows how the drafters of the Statute understood the jurisdictional scheme established by article 12. Indeed,
- 65. Each of these three contextual aspects confirms that article 12 establishes a unitary scheme with no exceptions for the exercise of the Court's jurisdiction.
- 66. *Third*, this interpretation of article 12 coheres with the *object and purpose* of the treaty, that is, "that the most serious crimes of concern to the international community as a whole must not go unpunished." It is plainly inconsistent with this object and purpose of the Rome Statute to read into the terms of article 12 an exemption from the Court's jurisdiction based on a bilateral agreement entirely extraneous to the Statute. This inconsistency is exacerbated in

ICC-01/18 27/49 23 August 2024

¹⁴² AJPO, para. 7; Haque, paras. 3, 5.

¹⁴³ See e.g. the transitional arrangements in article 124 of the <u>Statute</u>.

¹⁴⁴ See similarly Article 19(3) Decision, para. 102: "on the basis of article 124 of the Statute, the only exemption to the jurisdiction of the Court relates to a particular category of crimes, namely war crimes, for a limited period of time, which entails that the Statute is automatically activated in respect of all other matters. In addition, denying the automatic entry into force for a particular acceding State Party would be tantamount to a reservation in contravention of article 120 of the Statute."

¹⁴⁵ See Spain, para. 10 ("to claim that Article XVII.2.c of the Oslo II Accords excludes the exercise of the Court's jurisdiction over Israeli nationals would be tantamount to introducing a limitation on the Court's jurisdiction unilaterally imposed by a State Party (Palestine), contrary to the obligation it freely and voluntarily assumed to accept the Court's jurisdiction as a whole, without the possibility of making reservations to it"). See also OPCV, para 19; Haque, paras. 3, 5; AJPO, paras. 4-6; Chile & México, para. 14; Sourani et al., para. 22.

¹⁴⁶ See ICC-02/17-33, para. 59

¹⁴⁷ See Statute, preamble, para. 4

¹⁴⁸ See <u>Colombia</u>, para. 17; <u>Chile & México</u>, para. 15; <u>UN Rapporteurs</u>, para. 22; <u>JURDI & FIDH</u>, para. 10; <u>Addameer</u>, para. 6(c).

situations where the agreement in question is one procured by an occupying power.¹⁴⁹ To do so would allow an occupying power, including when in breach of the prohibition on the use of force under international law, to exempt its nationals from the ordinary application of the Court's jurisdiction in relation to international crimes.¹⁵⁰

- 67. Three other points further support this interpretation of article 12 as establishing a unitary scheme with no exceptions:
- *First*, under article 31(3)(c) of the VCLT, an interpreter is also enjoined to take into account "any relevant rules of international law applicable in the relations between the parties." As is clear on the face of the text, the Oslo Accords are of no relevance under this provision. The term "in the relations *between the parties*" refers to the parties to the treaty being interpreted—in this instance, the Rome Statute. Whatever the formal status of the Oslo Accords, and whatever the relationship between the PLO and the State of Palestine, the conditions in article 31(3)(c) of the VCLT are simply not met because Israel is not a party to the Rome Statute. To hold otherwise would wrongly allow a State (Israel) which is not a party to a multilateral treaty (the Rome Statute) to modify the generally applicable terms of that treaty. 152
- *Second*, pursuant to article 21(3) of the Statute, the Court must interpret and apply the applicable law—in this instance, article 12—consistently with internationally recognised human rights. As the Appeals Chamber noted in *Lubanga*: "Human rights underpin the Statute; every aspect of it, including the exercise of the jurisdiction of the Court." In general terms, interpreting article 12 as being subject to negotiated or procured exclusions and exemptions would be inconsistent with the right of victims of international crimes of access to justice. In the matter at hand, it would be inconsistent with the rights of Palestinian victims of access to justice 155 and of the Palestinian people to self-determination, the highest by the self-determination, which encompasses the enjoyment of fundamental rights guaranteed by

ICC-01/18 28/49 23 August 2024

¹⁴⁹ See Gordon, para. 25

¹⁵⁰ <u>Haque</u>, para. 31.

¹⁵¹ VCLT, article 31(3)(c).

¹⁵² See Article 19(3) Decision, para 88. See also Macrocrimes, para. 14. Cf. Hungary, para. 18.

¹⁵³ ICC-01/04-01/06-772 OA4, para 37.

¹⁵⁴ Palestine, pp. 9-10.

OPCV, para. 24; Van Hooydonk and Dixon, para. 14; South Africa, Bangladesh, Bolivia, Comoros, Djibouti, para. 24.

¹⁵⁶ UN Rapporteurs, para. 17. See also <u>Haque</u>, para. 8 and further <u>ICJ Advisory Opinion</u>, paras. 230-243.

international law.¹⁵⁷ As submitted by the OPCV, it would "inevitably create impunity gaps and deny redress to Victims." ¹⁵⁸

- *Third*, this understanding of article 12 as establishing a unitary scheme with no exceptions is consistent with the overarching aim and need to establish a practical and workable scheme of criminal jurisdiction.¹⁵⁹ Any approach that subjects article 12 to extraneous agreements or limitations on States Parties' exercise of jurisdiction would fragment the Court's jurisdiction and render its scope uncertain.¹⁶⁰ It would impermissibly render it variable over time, in substance, and in relation to particular categories of individuals.¹⁶¹ It would risk manipulation by States, both in and beyond situations of occupation.¹⁶² Such an approach "would create uncertainty inconsistent with the proper exercise of criminal jurisdiction."¹⁶³
- 68. Taken together, each of the ingredients of the general rule of interpretation, as well as the injunction in article 21(3) of the Statute and considerations of practicality and certainty underpinned by the requirement of interpretation in good faith, indicate that article 12 establishes a unitary scheme of territorial jurisdiction with no exceptions. The Court's jurisdiction is not limited by, and cannot be limited by, bilateral or other agreements undertaken by States Parties or, indeed, non-parties or other subjects of international law.¹⁶⁴
- 69. In applying this provision to the case at hand, there is one additional overarching point. In its Article 19(3) decision, the Chamber explicitly held that there is no basis for treating the State of Palestine differently from any other State Party. It did so in the following terms:

By becoming a State Party, Palestine has agreed to subject itself to the terms of the Statute and, as such, all the provisions therein shall be applied to it in the same manner than to any other State Party. Based on the principle of the effectiveness, it would indeed be contradictory to allow an entity to accede to the Statute and become a State Party, but to limit the Statute's inherent effects over it.¹⁶⁵

70. Taking all these points together, article 12 leads to a straightforward result in these proceedings. ¹⁶⁶ Palestine is a party to the Statute of the Court. On becoming a Party, Palestine

ICC-01/18 29/49 23 August 2024

¹⁵⁷ Palestine, p. 10.

¹⁵⁸ OPCV, para. 4.

¹⁵⁹ Lynk & Falk, para. 8; AOHR UK, para. 13; ICHR, para. 10.

Heinsch & Pinzauti, para. 7; Ireland, para. 21.

Al-Quds, para. 29; Spain, para. 10.

¹⁶² Haque, para. 5; Heinsch & Pinzauti, para. 6; ICJ Norway & Defend IL, para. 24.

¹⁶³ Norway, para. 15.

¹⁶⁴ OIC, para 19. The OIC has 57 member States, including 25 Parties to the Statute. See also <u>Norway</u>, para. 13; <u>Chile & México</u>, paras. 7-16; <u>Macrocrimes</u>, para. 8; <u>Parker & Quzmar</u>, para. 31; <u>Spain</u>, para. 9; <u>ICJurists</u>, para. 4.
¹⁶⁵ Article 19(3) <u>Decision</u>, para. 102.

¹⁶⁶ Brazil, para. 18; ICJurists, para. 13.

accepted the jurisdiction of the Court as defined by the Statute itself in the same manner as every other State Party. This entails territorial jurisdiction under article 12(2)(a) and nationality jurisdiction under article 12(2)(b). Whatever their status and validity, ¹⁶⁷ the Oslo Accords are not relevant to the Court's jurisdiction under article 12. ¹⁶⁸ As Norway puts it in its observations, "the Statute, according to its clear wording, is to the effect that the Court has jurisdiction in these proceedings." ¹⁶⁹

- ii. The Oslo Accords objection misunderstands foundational concepts of jurisdiction and their relation to the Statute
- 71. By itself, the argument set out above establishes the irrelevance of the Oslo Accords to the existence and exercise of the Court's jurisdiction under article 12. Yet there is an additional problem with the contention of certain interveners that the Oslo Accords bar the exercise of the Court's jurisdiction over international crimes committed on the territory of the State of Palestine by Israeli nationals. The argument is based on a misunderstanding of foundational concepts of jurisdiction under international law, including under the law of occupation. It also misunderstands how the drafters of the Statute specifically sought to accommodate certain bilateral and other arrangements.
- 72. In particular, this contention of certain interveners rests on a flawed understanding of the jurisdictional entitlements of occupying powers under international law. Thus, for one intervener, the Oslo Accords "delegated a limited authority" to the Palestinian Authority.¹⁷⁰ For another, it entailed but a limited transfer of powers to the Palestinian Authority by Israel.¹⁷¹ For another still, "[a]ll the powers and responsibilities, including the exercise of jurisdiction (prescriptive or enforcement), transferred to the PA were granted by Israel.¹⁷² In short, and in

30/49

ICC-01/18

¹⁶⁷ The Office notes that some interveners have raised doubts about the validity and/or continued applicability of the Oslo Accords or parts thereof – *see e.g.* Quigley, paras. 3-12; <u>AOHR UK</u>, paras. 7-8; <u>ICJ Norway & Defend IL</u>, paras. 5-14; <u>Lawyers Palestinian HR</u>; <u>Gordon</u>, paras. 17-20; <u>League of Arab States</u>; <u>JURDI & FIDH</u>, paras. 5-6; <u>USA Universities</u>, paras. 7-16; <u>Lynk & Falk</u>, paras. 9-24; <u>Guernica 37</u>, paras. 18-21; <u>Hammouri</u>, paras. 2-6. As set out in these submissions, it is not necessary for the PTC to determine these questions in order to determine the scope of the Court's jurisdiction under Article 12.

¹⁶⁸ OPCV, para. 12; Al Shouli & Al Masry, para. 13; AOHR UK, para. 16; ICHR, para. 12; ICJP & SOAS, para. 11; Heinsch & Pinzauti, para. 3; ICJ Norway & Defend IL, para. 15; UN Rapporteurs, para. 6; Gordon, para. 12; JURDI & FIDH, para. 9; OSJ, ECCHR, Redress, HRW, AI, para. 13; Colombia, para. 27; Addameer, para. 12; Gallagher, para. 15; Spain, para. 12; ICJurists, para. 18; Hammouri, para. 7; Al-Haq et al., para. 26; Dr. Adv. Juan Branco, paras. 45-47.

Norway, para. 19. See also Palestine, p. 5; Chile & México, para. 5; Heinsch & Pinzauti, para. 2; ICJ Norway & Defend IL, para. 16; Al-Quds, para. 27; Haque, para. 2; Brazil, para. 18; South Africa, Bangladesh, Bolivia, Comoros, Djibouti, para. 11: "The Rome Statute is exhaustive on the preconditions necessary for the Court to exercise its jurisdiction which is met with respect to the application of arrest warrants."

¹⁷⁰ IA Jewish Lawyers & Jurists, para 21.

Shany & Cohen, para. 10.

¹⁷² ECLJ, para 11.

relation to the present matter, according to these interveners whatever jurisdictional entitlements are enjoyed by the State of Palestine today were in Israel's gift.

- This understanding contradicts the basic and universally accepted foundation of the law of occupation. Occupation does not and cannot transfer title of sovereignty to the occupying power. 173 Plenary jurisdictional competence—as an aspect of sovereignty—rested in the Palestinian people as a group entitled by international law¹⁷⁴ to exercise the right of selfdetermination.¹⁷⁵ For present purposes, it rests in the State of Palestine as a State Party to the Rome Statute. 176 As the League of Arab States puts it, the right of the Palestinian people to self-determination and the related entitlements of the State of Palestine "includes plenary criminal jurisdiction over all individuals, regardless of nationality" throughout the Palestinian territory.¹⁷⁷
- This plenary competence is not affected by and cannot be affected by whatever practical 74. arrangements are set out in the Oslo Accords, 178 which cannot be understood as abandoning any aspect of the State of Palestine's jurisdictional entitlements. 179 It is this plenary jurisdictional competence of the State of Palestine—a State Party to the Statute—over the territory of Palestine that defines the Court's jurisdiction under article 12(2)(a) of the Statute. ¹⁸⁰
- 75. Moreover, in addition to misunderstanding the law of occupation, the argument of certain interveners seeking to deprive the Court of jurisdiction fails to appreciate the distinction between the existence of territorial jurisdiction and limitations that a State Party might have undertaken in relation to its exercise. 181 As recalled above, the Court's jurisdiction under article 12 of the Statute is defined by the territorial jurisdiction of its States Parties as it exists under international law. 182 Separately, there may arise under international law certain limitations on the exercise of that jurisdiction. Thus, under the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, diplomatic agents "enjoy immunity from the criminal jurisdiction of the receiving State." 183 Territorial jurisdiction exists, but international law regulates its exercise. Similarly, under a

ICC-01/18 31/49 23 August 2024

¹⁷³ ICJ Advisory Opinion, paras. 105, 108.

¹⁷⁴ Wall Advisory Opinion, para. 118; ICJ Advisory Opinion, paras. 230-243.

^{175 &}lt;u>League of Arab States</u>, para. 3; <u>Hammouri</u>, paras. 12-13; <u>Shoaibi & Khalil</u>, para. 10. See further <u>Prosecutor</u> Request", paras. 147-156, 187; Prosecution Response, para. 68.

176 OPCV, para. 15; Schabas, para. 7; Lynk & Falk, para. 9; ICJP & SOAS, para. 14; UN Rapporteurs, para. 11.

League of Arab States, para. 3.

¹⁷⁸ Schabas, para. 8; Addameer, para. 10; Haque, para. 8.

Norway, para. 35; <u>Ireland</u>, para. 23

¹⁸⁰ Addameer, para. 8

¹⁸¹ O'Keefe (2016), p. 5; Macrocrimes, para. 11.

¹⁸² Haque, para. 16; ICJurists, para. 11

¹⁸³ VCDR, article 31(1).

Status of Forces Agreement, a State may agree with the territorial State that the former has "the exclusive right to exercise jurisdiction" over its own forces. Here, too, territorial jurisdiction exists, but its exercise is regulated by an agreement under international law.¹⁸⁴ In each case, the territorial State is bound under international law not to *exercise* its jurisdiction to enforce its criminal law.

76. The key point is that these limitations on the exercise of jurisdiction do not affect the scope of the Court's jurisdiction under article 12 of the Statute. Rather, to the extent valid and applicable in whole or in part, such limitations may be relevant to questions of complementarity or cooperation. As to complementarity, restrictions on the capacity of States to investigate and prosecute are relevant only to the Court's determination of admissibility under article 17 of the Statute. As to cooperation, the Appeals Chamber in Afghanistan recognized that "articles 97 and 98 include safeguards with respect to pre-existing treaty obligations and other international obligations that may affect the execution of requests under Part 9 of the Statute." Moreover, the decision of the Pre-Trial Chamber in the same case, not disturbed by the Appeals Chamber, is explicit in relation to such agreements, finding that they:

do not deprive the Court of its jurisdiction over persons covered by such agreements. Quite to the contrary, article 98(2) operates precisely in cases where the Court's jurisdiction is already established under articles 11 and 12 and provides for an exception to the obligation of States Parties to arrest and surrender individuals. ¹⁸⁹

77. That is, as pointed out in numerous interventions, ¹⁹⁰ in addition to their relevance to complementarity, limitations of this kind assumed by States on the exercise of their criminal jurisdiction are to be addressed through the cooperation regime established by the Statute. They are not relevant to the existence and exercise of the Court's jurisdiction under article 12 of the Statute.

78. The same is true with any valid and applicable limitations imposed by the Oslo Accords

ICC-01/18 32/49 23 August 2024

¹⁸⁴ O'Keefe (2016), pp. 5, 6; <u>Brazil</u>, para. 13. See further <u>ICC-02/17-138</u>, para. 44.

¹⁸⁵ O'Keefe (2016), p. 2; Stahn (2016), p. 451. See also Quigley, para. 13; Haque, para. 11.

Norway, para. 25; South Africa, Bangladesh, Bolivia, Comoros, Djibouti, paras. 30-31; Colombia, para. 16; Spain, para. 9.

¹⁸⁷ See Statute, article 17.

¹⁸⁸ ICC-02/17-138, para. 44. See also Brazil, para. 13.

¹⁸⁹ See also ICC-02/17-33, para 59. See Quigley, para. 18; Law for Palestine, para. 13; Heinsch & Pinzauti, para. 10.

¹⁹⁰ See e.g. Quigley, para. 18; Haque, para. 11; Van Hooydonk and Dixon, para. 12

in relation to Palestine's exercise of criminal jurisdiction.¹⁹¹ In its Article 19(3) Decision in this situation, the Chamber explicitly pointed to the Statute's accommodation of potentially conflicting obligations of States under articles 97 and 98 of the Statute.¹⁹² As the Chamber noted, the drafters of the Statute explicitly sought to accommodate obligations of this kind at the stage of cooperation between the Court and States.¹⁹³ By contrast, the Chamber explicitly held that the Oslo Accords are not relevant to "the scope of the Court's territorial jurisdiction in Palestine" nor "in connection with the initiation of an investigation by the Prosecutor".¹⁹⁴ As set out above, this matter was thus resolved.

- 79. In addition, certain interveners in these proceedings have sought to rely on a different distinction to argue that the Court has no jurisdiction over international crimes committed by Israeli nationals in Palestine. In particular, these interveners assert that the Oslo Accords regulate the Palestinian Authority's *prescriptive* jurisdiction, ¹⁹⁵ and because they regulate the Palestinian Authority's prescriptive jurisdiction, the Court's jurisdiction under article 12 is similarly restricted.
- 80. The first step of this argument is wrong on its own terms. As numerous other interventions point out, the Oslo Accords, to the extent valid and applicable, concern the exercise of the Palestinian Authority's *enforcement* jurisdiction, in relation to the exercise of adjudicative authority and in relation to other aspects of the exercise of enforcement powers. ¹⁹⁶
- 81. More importantly, however, even if this argument were correct in relation to the kind of jurisdictional power regulated by the Oslo Accords between Israel and the PLO, it would not deprive the Court of jurisdiction under article 12 of the Statute in the *Situation in the State of Palestine*. As set out above, the Court's jurisdiction under article 12 is defined by its State Parties' territorial jurisdiction as it *exists* under international law. Even if the argument of these interveners were correct, that would entail that the Palestinian Authority agreed not to *exercise* prescriptive jurisdiction in relation to Israeli nationals. This is not what was agreed, but even if it had been, any such agreement not to *exercise* jurisdiction in no way affects the *existence* of

_

¹⁹¹ OPCV, para. 12; Al Shouli & Al Masry, para. 19; Shoaibi & Khalil, para. 9; Sourani et al., para. 12; OSJ, ECCHR, Redress, HRW, AI, para. 21.

¹⁹² Article 19(3) Decision, para. 127.

Article 19(3) Decision, para. 127. See also Brazil, para. 21.

¹⁹⁴ Article 19(3) Decision para. 129.

¹⁹⁵ Shany & Cohen, paras. 19-20; JCPA & NGO Research, fn. 35.

Ouigley, para. 14; Chile & México, para. 16; Heinsch & Pinzauti, para. 15; Norway, para. 45; Shoaibi & Khalil, para. 7; OSJ, ECCHR, Redress, HRW, AI, paras. 19-23; UN Rapporteurs, para. 16; Sourani et al., para. 12; Gordon, para. 14; USA Universities, para. 24; Lynk & Falk, para. 9; ICJurists, para. 19; Guernica 37, para. 11; Brazil, para. 19; Al-Haq et al., para. 21; South Africa, Bangladesh, Bolivia, Comoros, Djibouti, para. 28.

territorial jurisdiction of Palestine as a State Party to the Rome Statute. Again, Palestine's territorial jurisdiction was not and is not for the occupying power, Israel, to give, ¹⁹⁷ and that jurisdiction could not be abrogated by an agreement procured by an occupying power from a local territorial administration. ¹⁹⁸ Moreover, the Court's jurisdiction under article 12 does not turn on the territorial State having actually exercised its prescriptive jurisdiction in the domestic order. ¹⁹⁹ This variant of the Oslo Accords objection thus fails for the same reasons as the more general one.

82. In conclusion, the Oslo Accords are not relevant to the existence and exercise of the Court's jurisdiction under article 12 of the Statute. The Court has jurisdiction to issue warrants of arrest under article 58 of the Statute.

E. There is no complementarity issue barring the Chamber from issuing the Article 58 Decisions

- 83. As set out above, the Chamber should summarily dismiss the observations by interveners on complementarity matters, since they fall beyond the scope of the rule 103 process triggered by the UK Request. However, due to the importance that the Prosecutor attaches to complementarity and with the aim of further assisting the Chamber to expeditiously decide on the Applications, the Prosecution provides the following observations.
- 84. Consistent with the Court's settled jurisprudence, the Chamber need not assess complementarity for the purpose of the present article 58 proceedings because there is nothing requiring it to do so. The Prosecution has assessed complementarity and has concluded that there are no relevant proceedings that would render the cases identified by the Prosecution as inadmissible. Moreover, these cases fall squarely within the parameters of this situation and the Prosecutor did not have to open a new investigation. Finally, the 1 May 2024 letter from Israel was not a request for deferral of the Court's investigation.
 - a. There is no "ostensible cause" that would compel the Chamber to assess complementarity
- 85. Consistent with its usual practice and obligations, the Prosecution ensured prior to filing the Applications that the cases identified therein were admissible before the Court. It also engaged with the relevant actors in good faith. Pursuant to article 19(1), the Chamber is not

¹⁹⁷ See also OIC, para. 15; Addameer, para. 10(a).

^{198 &}lt;u>OIC</u>, para. 15.

¹⁹⁹ Schabas, para. 9. See also Rastan (2012) p. 20; Stahn (2016), pp. 448-449.

obliged to assess complementarity in deciding on the Applications. Rather, as the Appeals Chamber has confirmed, it is generally appropriate for a Chamber to exercise its discretion to assess complementarity only when there is an "ostensible cause" compelling it to do so.²⁰⁰ There is no such cause in the instant case.

- 86. The Prosecution's complementarity assessment of the cases identified in the Application was guided by the Court's legal framework and consistent jurisprudence. The key provision is article 17 of the Statute, which entails a two-step inquiry:
- *First*, the Court must determine whether the State concerned is "active" regarding the case(s) in question, establishing an apparent conflict of jurisdiction between it and the Court. In other words, the Court will determine whether there are—or there have been—relevant domestic proceedings within the meaning of article 17(1)(a) to (c). This is assessed in accordance with the three-part scheme in article 17 described below.²⁰¹
- Second—and only if the first question is answered in the affirmative²⁰²—the Court must determine whether the domestic proceedings are not, or were not, "genuine" within the meaning of articles 17(2) and (3) of the Statute.²⁰³
- 87. There is no contradiction between the above jurisprudence that there is not a "case" until after a Pre-Trial Chamber issues an arrest warrant or summons to appear²⁰⁴ and the fact that the Prosecution assesses admissibility with respect to cases identified in its article 58 applications *before* a Chamber rules on them. While the former relates to the procedural moment where admissibility challenges under article 19(2) by persons and relevant States are permitted under the Statute, the latter refers to the parameters of the Court's proceedings that the Prosecution compares with the relevant (if any) domestic proceedings for the purposes of its complementarity assessment under article 53(2)(b). At the article 58 stage, these parameters are defined by the persons for whom the arrest warrants or summons to appear are requested

2

²⁰⁰ Statute, art. 19(1) ("The Court *may*, on its own motion, determine the admissibility of a case in accordance with article 17") (emphasis added). Pre-Trial Chambers are not required to determine the admissibility of the case in order to issue arrest warrants under art. 58(1). Moreover, bearing in mind the interests of the suspects, the Pre-Trial Chamber should exercise its discretion under article 19(1) only in exceptional circumstances, such as, for example, when there is an "ostensible cause" that impels them to do so. *DRC* Arrest Warrant Appeal Judgment, paras. 1, 52-53.

²⁰¹ ICC-01/04-01/07-1497 ("*Katanga* Admissibility AD"), para. 78; ICC-02/11-01/12-75-Red ("*Simone Gbagbo* Admissibility AD"), para. 27; ICC-01/11-01/11-695 ("*Gaddafi* Second Admissibility AD"), para. 58.

²⁰² Katanga Admissibility AD, paras. 75, 78; Simone Gbagbo Admissibility AD, para. 27. See also Schabas, W. and El Zeidy, M., "Article 17" in Ambos (ed.), Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court: Article-by-Article Commentary, 4th ed. (Beck/Hart Publishing: München, 2022) ("Schabas/El Zeidy"), p. 963, nm. 30.

²⁰³ Statute, article 17(2)-(3); see also article 20(3) (if there has been a final decision).

²⁰⁴ See above para. 46.

and for the conduct described in the applications.²⁰⁵

Regarding the instant cases, there is no conflict of jurisdiction because there are no relevant domestic proceedings. There is thus no need to move beyond the first limb of the inquiry. Since the Prosecution has filed the Article 58 Applications against certain persons alleging specific criminal conduct, the existence of any relevant domestic proceedings is to be determined by reference to the persons and conduct described in the Applications. A case would potentially become inadmissible before the Court only if domestic proceedings were to exist with regard to the same individual for substantially the same conduct as alleged before the Court. 206 The latter requires comparing the facts underlying the crimes, but also the facts underlying the conduct of the suspect.²⁰⁷ While this assessment entails some flexibility and domestic authorities need not always investigate exactly the same incidents as the Court, ²⁰⁸ "the case that the State is investigating [must] sufficiently mirror[] the one that the Prosecutor is investigating". ²⁰⁹ This is a case-specific and fact-sensitive determination. ²¹⁰

89. Furthermore, not just any domestic investigation or inquiry is relevant for the purposes of article 17(1)(a). Since the fundamental purpose of the Court is to prosecute those responsible for the most serious crimes of international concern in a manner complementary "to national criminal jurisdictions",²¹¹ this provision relates to domestic proceedings seeking to determine criminal responsibility as opposed to other procedures.²¹² Hence, in Burundi, the Pre-Trial Chamber held that "national investigations that are not designed to result in criminal prosecutions"²¹³ or "national proceedings designed to result in non-judicial and administrative

²⁰⁵ Ruto et al. Admissibility AD, para. 40.

²⁰⁶ Ruto et al. Admissibility AD, para. 40. By referring to "substantially the same conduct", the Appeals Chamber deviated from the text of the Statute which refers to the "same person" and "same conduct". See e.g. Statute, articles 20(3) and 90(1).

²⁰⁷ ICC-01/11-01/11-547-Red ("Gaddafi Admissibility AD"), para. 61 ("the parameters of a 'case' are defined by the suspect under investigation and the conduct that gives rise to criminal liability under the Statute"), para. 62 ("the conduct that defines the 'case' is both at that of the suspect [...] and that described in the incidents under investigation which is imputed to the suspect" [and t]he exact scope of an incident cannot be determined in the abstract. What is required is an analysis of all the circumstances of a case, including the context of the crimes and the overall allegations against the suspect"). See also para. 73. See also ICC-01/17-9-Red ("Burundi Article 15") Decision"), para. 147 and ICC-01/11-01/11-565 ("Al-Senussi Admissibility AD"), para. 100.

²⁰⁸ To facilitate the comparison and in light of the characteristics of the cases before the ICC (where several crimes are generally committed in different locations), Chambers have generally compared 'incidents': Gaddafi Admissibility AD, para. 62. "Incidents" have been defined as "a historical event, defined in time and place, in the course of which crimes within the jurisdiction of the Court were allegedly committed by one or more direct perpetrators". ²⁰⁹ <u>Gaddafi Admissibility AD</u>, para. 73, cited in <u>Burundi Article 15 Decision</u>, para. 147 (emphasis added).

²¹⁰ Gaddafi Admissibility AD, para. 72.

²¹¹ Statute, Preamble, para. 10.

²¹² Schabas/El Zeidy, p. 975, nm. 51.

²¹³ Burundi Article 15 Decision, para. 152.

measures rather than criminal prosecutions" do not meet the admissibility requirements.²¹⁴ Likewise, a "national investigation merely aimed at the gathering of evidence does not lead, in principle, to the inadmissibility of any cases before the Court".²¹⁵

- 90. Finally, the Court must conduct its complementarity assessments on the basis of the relevant facts *as they exist* at the time of the proceedings before the Court.²¹⁶ The Prosecution is unaware of any domestic proceedings meeting the conditions described above with regard to the Article 58 Applications, as explained further below.
 - b. The cases identified in the Article 58 Applications are admissible before the Court
- 91. The information available does not indicate that Israel is investigating the same persons for substantially the same conduct as that described in the Prosecution's Article 58 Applications. The cases defined in the Applications are therefore admissible before the Court.
- 92. Crucially, there is no information that the alleged domestic proceedings relate to the *same persons* as those identified in the Applications. There is no information that NETANYAHU or GALLANT are being criminally investigated or prosecuted.²¹⁷ While it has been reported that the Military Police has opened criminal investigations into over 70 suspicious incidents,²¹⁸ and more than a thousand incidents have been identified by the Military Advocate General ("MAG") and referred to the Fact-Finding Assessment Mechanism ("FFAM"),²¹⁹ there is no evidence that these relate to NETANYAHU or GALLANT. Moreover, the Prosecution notes

ICC-01/18 23 August 2024

²¹⁴ Burundi Article 15 Decision, para. 152; ICC-02/17-33 ("Afghanistan Article 15 Decision"), para. 79.

²¹⁵ Burundi Article 15 Decision, para. 152.

²¹⁶ ICC-01/09-01/11-101 ("<u>Ruto et al.</u> Admissibility Decision"), para. 70; <u>Ruto et al.</u> Admissibility AD, para. 83; ICC-01/15-12-Anx-Corr ("<u>Georgia Article 15 Decision, Judge Péter Kovács Sep. Op.</u>"), para. 58 ("Article 17 of the Statute is drafted in a manner where the relevant Chamber is duty bound to make a determination on the basis of facts as they exist"); *see also <u>Katanga Admissibility AD</u>*, para. 56. This refers to the proceedings before the first instance chamber and does not include subsequent proceedings on appeal: ICC-01/09-01/11-234 ("<u>Ruto et al. Updated Investigation Report AD</u>"), para. 10; <u>Gaddafi Admissibility AD</u>, paras. 41-43; <u>Al-Senussi Admissibility AD</u>, paras. 57-59. See also ICC-02/04-01/15-156 ("<u>Kony et al. Admissibility Decision</u>"), paras. 51-52 and ICC-02/17-196 ("<u>Afghanistan Article 18(2) Decision</u>"), para. 47 (referring to the facts as they exist at the time of the proceedings before the Court). For article 18 proceedings, this is the time when the PTC considers the merits of the Prosecution's request to resume its investigation: <u>Philippines Article 18(2) Decision</u>, para. 17.

²¹⁷ Chile & México, para. 34; ICJ Norway & Defend IL, para. 33; Law for Palestine, paras. 26-27. The Prosecution notes that the interveners' observations relate to the Israeli nationals for whom the Prosecution has requested the arrest warrants to be issued. In any event, there is no information either on domestic proceedings regarding SINWAR and DEIF.

²¹⁸ IDF: Military Advocate General: Remarks of the Military Advocate General at the Israel Bar Association Annual Conference 28 May 2024; Military Advocate General: Addressing Alleged Misconduct in the Context of the War on Gaza, updated on 3 August 2024; IBA, para. 21.

Military Advocate General: Addressing Alleged Misconduct in the Context of the War on Gaza, updated on 3 August 2024; IBA, para. 20.

that NETANYAHU and GALLANT are civilian authorities, ²²⁰ and as such may fall outside the jurisdiction of the military justice system, which ordinarily addresses the conduct of soldiers and others in the service of the IDF. ²²¹ Nor is the Prosecution aware of any ordinary domestic criminal proceedings against NETANYAHU and GALLANT for substantially the same conduct as that described in the Applications. Thus, even if the above-mentioned military inquiries can be considered for the purpose of complementarity, ²²² they do not involve the *same persons* as those named in the Article 58 Applications. The cases are therefore admissible and there is no need to enquire further as to whether the conduct has been or is being investigated (or not).

93. In any case, and additionally, the available information does not show that Israel is investigating *substantially the same conduct* as the ICC. For instance, the information available does not suggest that the above inquiries relate to the conduct underlying the war crime of starvation and/or related crimes. Likewise, the available information does not suggest any inquiry into patterns of criminality, or the potential responsibility of high-ranking officials, which may among other considerations signify the investigation of contextual elements of crimes against humanity.²²³ Indeed, significantly, on 28 May 2024 the MAG categorically rejected the commission of these crimes without any indication or implication that such conclusions resulted from a full and rigorous investigation, or indeed any investigation at all. The MAG stated that "there is no deliberate policy of starvation [because] the IDF is making a tremendous effort to bring food, medicines and humanitarian equipment into the Gaza strip."²²⁴ She also asserted that "the claim that Israel is engaging in the deliberate killing of civilians, and in the systematic destruction of property, [] is completely disconnected from reality".²²⁵ In

ICC-01/18 38/49 23 August 2024

_

²²⁰ Section 2 (b) of the *Basic Law: The Military* states that the Minister of Defence is in charge of the army on behalf of the Government. The heading of the provision reads as "Subordination to the civilian authorities." This suggests that the Minister of Defence is a civilian authority. *See* Annex C.

²²¹ The military justice system is regulated by the *Military Justice Law* of 1955 ("MJL"). MJL, sections 4, 5 and 8 (2) and (3) indicate that this law is applicable to persons in the service of the army (soldiers and others employed in the service of the IDF; hereinafter: "IDF staff"). Section 13 (a) stipulates that courts martial have competence over IDF staff. Section 178 (4) provides that the MAG may order a preliminary inquiry in any case for a conduct which a court martial is competent to try. Accordingly, military criminal investigations may only be carried out *vis-à-vis* the conduct of IDF staff. This assessment is made without prejudice that military criminal proceedings are relevant for the purposes of complementarity before the Court. *See* Annex C.

²²² The Prosecution does not assess either whether the substantive law applied by these bodies reflect the conduct underlying the Rome Statute crimes.

²²³ The Appeals Chamber has confirmed that domestic authorities must investigate the facts underlying the contextual elements of crimes against humanity: ICC-02/18-89 OA ("<u>Venezuela Article 18(2) Appeal Judgment</u>"), paras. 279-280.

^{224 &}lt;u>IDF: Remarks of the Military Advocate General at the Israel Bar Association Annual Conference</u>, 28 May 2024.

²²⁵ <u>IDF: Remarks of the Military Advocate General at the Israel Bar Association Annual Conference</u>, 28 May 2024.

other situations, such blanket denials without having conducted a prior investigation into the relevant facts have been considered indicative of State inaction.²²⁶

- 94. Furthermore, the reported proceedings before the Israeli High Court of Justice ("HCJ") resulting from the petition filed by five Israeli NGOs against the Government of Israel ("GoI"), the Prime Minister (NETANYAHU), the Minister of Defence (GALLANT) and the head of COGAT, are not criminal proceedings. ²²⁷ Rather, these are administrative or constitutional procedures where Israeli authorities are requested to show "good cause" and provide legal justification for their actions imposing restrictions on the provision of humanitarian aid and essential commodities to Gaza as well as to explain the government's plans to improve the situation. ²²⁹ If the Israeli authorities fail to prove that they meet their obligations with respect to the civilian population in Gaza, the Court could issue a so-called "absolute order" obliging them to do so. ²³⁰ Yet, the proceedings would not be criminal in nature even if such an order was issued because they do not relate to the responsibility of individuals. The procedures are thus incapable of rendering cases inadmissible before this Court.
- 95. Whether any of the above proceedings *may* lead to criminal investigations or prosecutions against NETANYAHU and GALLANT at some unspecified time in the future is irrelevant at this stage, since complementarity must be assessed on the basis of the facts *as they exist* at the time of the Court's proceedings.²³¹ Neither evidence of a State's *preparedness* or *willingness* to investigate or prosecute, nor the investigation of persons other than those who are suspects in cases before the Court, is sufficient to establish that the State actually is carrying out a relevant investigation or prosecution and therefore cannot render a case inadmissible

ICC-01/18 39/49 23 August 2024

²²⁶ ICC-02/18-45 ("Venezuela Article 18(2) Decision"), para. 106; Venezuela Article 18(2) Appeal Judgment, paras. 287-299.

²²⁷ Contra IBA, paras. 29 and 31 (d).

²²⁸ Cf. Rules of Procedure of the High Court of Justice 1984. See Annex C.

²²⁹ See HCJ 2280/24 Petition for Order *Nisi* and Request for Urgent Hearing, 18 March 2024, request (a) and (b) pp. 1-2; see also HCJ 2280/24 Interim decision of 4 April 2024; HCJ 2280/24 Interim decision of 51 April 2024; HCJ 2280/24 Interim decision of 6 May 2024; HCJ 2280/24 Order Nisi of 10 June 2024; HCJ 2280/24 Interim Decision of 21 July 2024. See Annex C.

²³⁰ See HCJ 2280/24 Petition for Order Nisi and Request for Urgent Hearing, 18 March 2024, final request p. 35 ("the Honorable Court is requested to issue an *order nisi* as requested, to schedule an urgent hearing in the Petition and upon receiving Respondents' response to make the order absolute"); HCJ 2280/24 Petitioners' Response to the Supplementary Notice on behalf of the Respondents and Application for an Order Nisi, 19 April 2024, para. 77; HCJ 2280/24 Petitioners' Response to the Supplementary Notice on behalf of the Respondents in Preparation for Hearing 3 May 2024, para. 58. See Annex C.

²³¹ ICC-01/21-77 ("<u>Philippines Article 18(2) Appeal Judgment</u>"), para. 161. In the context of Philippines request for deferral, the Appeals Chamber made clear that whether it was expected that domestic investigations of low or mid-ranking officials would extend or lead to high-ranking officials was insufficient if any such investigation was not being carried out "at present".

before the Court.²³² Nor is it enough for a State to allege having a robust judicial system or to rely on judicial reform actions and promises for future investigative activities.²³³ As the Appeals Chamber has held:

[a]lthough article 17 (1) (a) to (c) of the Statute does indeed favour national jurisdictions, it does so only to the extent that there actually are, or have been, investigations and/or prosecutions at the national level. If the suspect or conduct have not been investigated by the national jurisdiction, there is no legal basis for the Court to find the case inadmissible.²³⁴

- 96. Moreover, if it is the case that Israel cannot at present conduct the same proceedings as the Court due to the constraints of the ongoing armed conflict, this in fact calls for the Court's action.²³⁵ One aim of the Court's complementarity scheme is to ensure accountability when the State is not itself able to investigate and prosecute international crimes.²³⁶ Israel also remains free to continue its investigations irrespective of the ongoing proceedings before the Court;²³⁷ if the Chamber grants the Applications and *if* Israeli proceedings sufficiently evolve, either Israel or the suspects named in the Applications could challenge the admissibility of the cases under article 19(2) of the Statute.
- 97. In sum, the cases described in the Applications are admissible before the Court and there is no "ostensible cause" that would require the Chamber to assess complementarity in deciding on the Applications.
 - c. The cases described in the Application fall within the parameters of the situation referred by Palestine
- 98. Some interveners have suggested that the cases in the Applications do not fall within the Prosecution's ongoing investigation into the situation in the State of Palestine, and thus that the Prosecution should have opened a new investigation and sent another round of article 18(1)

ICC-01/18 40/49 23 August 2024

²³² <u>Ruto et al. Admissibility AD</u>, para. 41; ICC-01/09-02/11-274 ("<u>Muthaura et al. Admissibility AD</u>"), para. 40. Nor can admissibility be assessed with respect to non-existing proceedings: <u>Kony et al. Admissibility Decision</u>, paras. 51-52; *see also* <u>Law for Palestine</u>, para. 22..

^{233 &}lt;u>Ruto et al.</u> Admissibility <u>Decision</u>, para. 64; see also <u>Burundi</u> Article 15 <u>Decision</u>, para. 162. <u>Contra UKLFI et al.</u>, paras. 17-19; <u>CUJS & WUJS</u>, para. 24; <u>Germany</u>, para. 9; <u>IBA</u>, para. 2; <u>HLMG</u>, para. 25; <u>Bachman et al.</u>, para. 12.

²³⁴ Gaddafi Admissibility AD, para. 78, quoting Ruto et al. Admissibility AD, para. 44.

The Appeals Chamber dismissed similar arguments from Libya: <u>Gaddafi</u> Admissibility AD, para. 165.

²³⁵ Statute, art. 17(3). Contra HLMG, para. 24; Chilstein, para. 37; Graham, para. 20; Germany, para. 10.

²³⁶ Statute, art. 17(3).

²³⁷ Venezuela Article 18(2) Appeal Judgment, para. 231; ICC-01/21-67 ("Philippines Decision on Suspensive Effect"), para. 19; ICC-01/11-01/11-387 ("Gaddafi Decision on Suspensive Effect"), para. 26.

letters notifying States Parties and States with jurisdiction of this new investigation.²³⁸ These submissions misunderstand the features of this situation and the Prosecution's investigation thereof. As demonstrated below, the cases identified in the Applications fall squarely within the parameters of the situation referred by Palestine on 22 May 2018,²³⁹ and in any event are sufficiently linked to the situation of crisis described therein.²⁴⁰ Accordingly, the Prosecution was not required to open a new investigation and there was no basis for issuing new article 18(1) letters.

99. In its 2018 referral, Palestine defined the geographical and temporal parameters of the situation (the oPt since 13 June 2014)²⁴¹ and described a situation of crisis arising from the ongoing Israeli occupation, the expansion of settlements and alleged violations of fundamental rights throughout the territory, including Gaza.²⁴² Palestine listed a sample of alleged war crimes and crimes against humanity,²⁴³ including murder, unlawful attacks on civilians, and persecution.²⁴⁴ On 3 March 2021, the Prosecution opened its investigation into this situation

ICC-01/18 41/49 23 August 2024

²³⁸ See e.g. <u>USA</u>, paras. 17-23; <u>CIJA</u>, paras. 25-27; <u>Chilstein</u>, paras. 32-34; <u>The Hague Initiative</u>, paras. 31-32; <u>Graham</u>, paras, 22-32; <u>Germany</u>, paras. 13-14; <u>IA Jewish Lawyers & Jurists</u>, paras. 5, 10-12; <u>Shany & Cohen</u>, paras. 23-25. With respect to <u>Shany & Cohen</u>, the Chamber should not consider their "position elaborated in [their] *Just Security* post". As the Appeals Chamber has held, "it is impermissible to attempt to incorporate by reference submissions" (ICC-02/04-01/15-1850 A ("<u>Ongwen AD</u>"), para. 15) and "[t]he arguments of a participant to an appeal must be fully contained within that participant's filing in relation to that particular appeal. The filing must, in itself, enable the Appeals Chamber to understand the position of the participant on the appeal, without requiring reference to arguments made by that participant elsewhere.": ICC-01/04-01/06-774 ("<u>Lubanga Second Redactions AD</u>"), para. 29. Likewise, arguments incorporated by reference to other filings circumvent the applicable page limit; accordingly, they should be dismissed *in limine*: ICC-01/05-01/13-2276-Red ("<u>Bemba et al. SAJ</u>"), paras. 254-255; ICC-01/04-02/06-2666-Red ("<u>Ntaganda AJ</u>"), para. 901.

²³⁹ As to the definition of situation: *see* ICC-02/05-01/20-391 ("*Abd-Al-Rahman* Jurisdiction Decision"), para. 25 (quoting ICC-01/04-101-tEN-Corr, para. 65: a situation is "generally defined in terms of temporal, territorial and in some cases personal parameters"; and ICC-01/04-01/10-451 ("*Mbarushimana* Jurisdiction Decision"), para. 16: possibly including "not only crimes that had already been or were being committed at the time of the referral, but also crimes committed after that time, in so far as they are sufficiently linked to the situation of crisis which was ongoing at the time of the referral"). *See also* Marchesi, A. and Chaitidou, E., "Article 14: referral of a situation by a State Party" in Triffterer and Ambos (eds.), *The Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court: a Commentary*, 3rd Ed. (München/Oxford/Baden Baden: C.H. Beck/Hart/Nomos, 2016) ("Marchesi and Chaitidou"), p. 718 (nm. 27: explaining this definition: "[t]he territorial and personal parameters are in the alternative. The territorial parameter enquires whether the crime occurred on the territory of a State Party pursuant to article 12(2)(a) [...] or of a State which lodged an *ad hoc* declaration under article 12(3). The personal parameter pertains to the perpetrator of the crime(s) who is a national of a State Party (article 12(2)(b)) or a non-State Party which lodged an article 12(3) declaration"); *see also* p. 717 (nm. 25: "the concept of a situation must be understood in a generic and broad fashion: a description of facts, defined by space and time, which circumscribe the prevailing circumstances at the time ('conflict scenario')").

²⁴⁰ <u>Mbarushimana Jurisdiction Decision</u>, para. 16. The Pre-Trial Chamber observed that a situation can include crimes committed at the time of the referral and subsequent crimes that were sufficiently linked to the situation of crisis which was ongoing at the time of the referral.

²⁴¹ Palestine Article 14 Referral, para. 9, fn. 4.

Palestine Article 14 Referral, para. 3.

²⁴³ Palestine Article 14 Referral, paras. 11-13; *see* para. 12 (noting that "the crimes set forth below [] are not intended to limit the scope of the OTP's investigation").

²⁴⁴ Palestine Article 14 Referral, para. 12 (iv) and (vi).

within these parameters. The Prosecutor's public announcement,²⁴⁵ as well as the contents of the article 18(1) letters (both enclosing the document setting out the Prosecution's summary findings of the preliminary examination),²⁴⁶ described a sample of the relevant criminality allegedly affecting the West Bank and Gaza and identified categories of alleged perpetrators (the IDF, Israeli authorities, and members of Hamas and other Palestinian Armed Groups ("PAGs"). The Prosecution recalled that the preliminary examination findings were made for the threshold-setting purpose of opening an investigation under article 53(1) and were without prejudice to the future investigation—which could encompass any crimes within the scope of the situation and could thus include subsequent crimes and incidents.²⁴⁷

100. The Applications filed on 20 May 2024 against two high-ranking Israeli leaders and three senior Hamas leaders related to events arising from the 7 October 2023 attack by Hamas and other PAGs, as well as to subsequent Israeli actions and policies in Gaza. The Prosecutor alleged the criminal responsibility of NETANYAHU and GALLANT for the war crimes of (i) starvation under art. 8(2)(b)(xxv); (ii) wilfully causing great suffering, or serious injury to body or health under art. 8(2)(a)(iii), or cruel treatment under art. 8(2)(c)(i); (iii) wilful killing under art. 8(2)(a)(i), or murder under art. 8(2)(c)(i); (iv) intentionally directing attacks against a civilian population under arts 8(2)(b)(i), or 8(2)(e)(i); and the crimes against humanity of (v) extermination and/or murder under arts 7(1)(b) and 7(1)(a); (vi) persecution under art. 7(1)(h); and (vii) other inhumane acts under art. 7(1)(k). The Prosecution alleged the criminal responsibility of HANIYEH, SINWAR and DEIF for the war crimes of murder under art. 8(2)(c)(i); taking of hostages under art. 8(2)(c)(iii), rape and other forms of sexual violence under art. 8(2)(e)(vi), torture and cruel treatment under art. 8(2)(c)(i), outrages upon personal dignity under art. 8(2)(c)(ii) in the context of captivity; the crimes against humanity of extermination under art. 7(1)(b); murder under art. 7(1)(a); rape and other forms of sexual violence under art. 7(1)(g), torture under art. 7(1)(f), and other inhumane acts under art. 7(1)(k)in the context of captivity.²⁴⁸

101. These crimes and related incidents fall squarely within the parameters of the situation, and in any event are sufficiently linked to the situation of crisis ongoing at the time of the referral.²⁴⁹

²⁴⁵ Prosecutor Statement, 3 March 2021.

²⁴⁶ Article 18(1) notification, 9 March 2021, Summary of Preliminary Examination Findings. See Annex A.

²⁴⁷ Summary of Preliminary Examination Findings, paras. 7-8. See Annex A.

Prosecutor Public Statement, 20 May 2024.

²⁴⁹ *Mbarushimana* Jurisdiction Decision, para. 16.

- *First*, the crimes took place in the context of the ongoing Israeli occupation of the West Bank and Gaza, and the associated armed conflicts identified at the time of the referral. Indeed, as held by the ICJ, Israel has occupied the West Bank and Gaza since 1967 (notwithstanding its disengagement from Gaza in September 2005) and has annexed East Jerusalem.²⁵⁰ Moreover, Israel and Hamas have been parties to a non-international armed conflict since at least 2008, one that has involved confrontations such as Operation Cast Lead in 2008-2009,²⁵¹ Operation Pillar of Defence in 2012,²⁵² Operation Protective Edge in 2014 (which was analysed during the preliminary examination),²⁵³ and Operation Guardian of the Walls in 2021.²⁵⁴ Between these major operations, extensive airstrikes continued to be carried out by Israel in Gaza²⁵⁵ and repeated rocket attacks against Israel were carried out by Hamas.²⁵⁶
- *Second*, the crimes alleged in the Applications involve conduct of some of the same groups or categories of perpetrator allegedly responsible for the crimes at the time of the referral and opening of the investigation: Israeli authorities and the IDF as well as Hamas and other PAGs. The victims were also the same: the Palestinian civilian population in Gaza and civilian and non-civilian victims (for hostage-taking) in Israel.
- Third, the crimes are consistent with, and reflect a continuation of, the criminality identified at the time of the referral and the opening of the Prosecution's investigation, which was taken into account solely for the limited purpose of opening the investigation. As noted, Israel has occupied the oPt since 1967 and has maintained and expanded illegal settlements. Israel and Hamas have been engaged in ongoing hostilities since the Court began to exercise its jurisdiction, causing serious harm to civilians from both sides and resulting in potential war crimes and crimes against humanity similar to those described in the Applications. Since its founding, Hamas has committed acts of violence against military and also civilian targets, including bombings, rocket and mortar attacks, shootings,

ICC-01/18 43/49 23 August 2024

²⁵⁰ *ICJ Advisory Opinion*, paras. 78, 104, 138, 170, 179; see above para. 2.

²⁵¹ IDF, 30 Oct. 2017; <u>UN Ind. Com. Rep.</u>, 18 Mar. 2019, para. 220; <u>UN Fact-Finding Rep.</u>, 25 Sept. 2009, para. 29.

²⁵² IDF, 30 Oct. 2017; UN Ind. Com. Rep., 18 Mar. 2019, para. 220; UNHCHR Rep., 4 July 2023, paras. 4-8.

²⁵³ IDF, 30 Oct. 2017; UN Ind. Com. Rep., 18 Mar. 2019, para. 220; UN Com. Ing. Rep., 24 June 2015, para. 19.

²⁵⁴ IDF, 14 June 2021; UN Ind. Com. Rep., 5 Sept. 2023, paras. 13, 22, 54.

UN Ind. Com. Rep., 5 Sept. 2023, paras. 34, 48, 58; UN Ind. Com. Rep., 18 Mar. 2019, para. 221.

²⁵⁶ UN Ind. Com. Rep., 5 Sept. 2023, para. 51; UN Ind. Com. Rep., 18 Mar. 2019, para. 221.

²⁵⁷ *ICJ Advisory Opinion*, paras. 104, 155-156.

²⁵⁸ CTC Sentinel, Oct./Nov. 2023; <u>UN Ind. Com. Rep.</u>, 5 Sept. 2023, para. 51; <u>UN Ind. Com. Rep.</u>, 18 Mar. 2019, paras. 220-222.

stabbings,²⁵⁹ as well as hostage-taking.²⁶⁰ Israeli military operations in Gaza have resulted in extensive death and harm to Palestinian civilians and caused widespread destruction.²⁶¹ Further, the population of Gaza was already in a precarious situation prior to 7 October 2023 as a result of restrictions to the products allowed in through the border crossings controlled by Israel.²⁶²

• *Finally*, the referrals of México and Chile, ²⁶³ and of South Africa, Bangladesh, Bolivia, Comoros and Djibouti, ²⁶⁴ referred to and relied upon the very same parameters described in Palestine's 2018 referral (oPt since 13 June 2014) and did not purport to trigger a new investigation. ²⁶⁵ Rather, these States described the current events as an "escalation of violence" in the context of the alleged ongoing commission of crimes within the Court's jurisdiction. The additional referrals sought to emphasise the importance of the Court's *existing* investigation, rather than to suggest that a new investigation needed to be opened.

102. Likewise, the Prosecutor's statements leading to the filing of the Applications (emphasising that humanitarian assistance should be allowed in Gaza) further indicated that the Office was concerned with the most recent events.²⁶⁶

103. In conclusion, since the crimes fall within the parameters of the referred situation, and are in any event sufficiently linked to the situation of crisis ongoing at the time of the referral, there was no need to open a new investigation, and consequently no basis for the Prosecution to issue new article 18(1) letters, as further demonstrated below.

d. The Prosecutor was not required to open a new investigation or issue a new article 18(1) notification

104. The interveners who advocate for a new investigation not only misunderstand the features of this situation but also the Court's complementarity framework.

105. *First*, it is clear that the article 18(1) notification serves the limited purpose of enabling a State to exercise its right to request a deferral of the investigation and provide supporting

ICC-01/18 44/49 23 August 2024

²⁵⁹ CTC Sentinel, Oct./Nov. 2023.

²⁶⁰ U.S. Department of State Country Reports on Terrorism, 2022 at 274.

²⁶¹ OCHA Humanitarian overview, December 2021, pp. 11-12.

²⁶² OCHA Humanitarian Impact, June 2022.

²⁶³ Chile and Mexico Article 14 Referral, 18 January 2024.

²⁶⁴ South Africa et al. Article 14 Referral, 17 November 2023.

²⁶⁵ Contra USA, para. 22.

²⁶⁶ Statement of ICC Prosecutor Karim A. A. Khan KC from Ramallah on the situation in the State of Palestine and Israel, 6 December 2023.

material. It does not limit in any way the Prosecution's investigation. ²⁶⁷ The Appeals Chamber has further confirmed that "there is no expectation at [the article 18] stage of the proceedings that the Prosecutor should notify States of every act he or she intends to investigate," since "the Prosecutor may be in no position to identify all potential cases that fall within the scope of a broad referral". 268 Evidently, for example, the Prosecutor will not be able to refer to crimes which may occur after the article 18(1) notification but which the Prosecutor is nonetheless authorised to investigate. ²⁶⁹ This is particularly so in this situation, which Palestine's referral of 22 May 2018 primarily defined according to broad geographic and temporal parameters, namely: "the Palestinian Territory occupied in 1967 by Israel, as defined by the 1949 Armistice Line, [which] includes the West Bank, including East Jerusalem, and the Gaza Strip" since 13 June 2014 (without an ending date). ²⁷⁰ After assessing the article 53(1) criteria, the Prosecutor decided to investigate within those broad parameters.²⁷¹ In both its article 19(3) application and article 18(1) notification letters, the Prosecutor not only noted that the criminality in this situation is ongoing, but also referred to settled jurisprudence that investigations are not limited to the acts, incidents or groups of persons assessed during the Preliminary Examination.²⁷² Indeed, Chambers have recalled that the Prosecutor is not required only to investigate the acts or incidents identified in the article 15 application²⁷³ or in the article 18(1) notification.²⁷⁴ Instead, the Prosecutor's investigation can extend to other and subsequent acts as long as they fall within the parameters of the situation, or in any event are sufficiently linked to it.²⁷⁵

²⁶⁷ Venezuela Article 18(2) Decision, para. 77; Venezuela Article 18(2) Appeal Judgment, para. 230; contra USA. <u>para. 16.</u>
268 <u>Venezuela Article 18(2) Appeal Judgment</u>, para. 110.

Venezuela Article 18(2) Appeal Judgment, para. 106 quoting Afghanistan Appeal Judgment, para. 59 (explaining that in its article 15 request the Prosecutor "will not be in a position to identify exhaustively or with great specificity each incident, crime or perpetrators that could be subject to investigation [and] evidently she will not be able to reference crimes which may occur after the request for authorisation"); Mbarushimana Jurisdiction Decision, para. 16 ("a situation can include not only crimes that had already been or were being committed at the time of the referral, but also crimes committed after that time, in so far as they are sufficiently linked to the situation of crisis which was ongoing at the time of the referral").

²⁷⁰ Palestine Article 14 Referral, fn. 4 and para. 16(e).

Prosecutor Statement, 3 March 2021; Summary of Preliminary Examination Findings; ICC-01/18-12 ("Article 19(3) Application"), para. 98; article 18(1) notification, 9 March 2021, see Annex A.

²⁷²Article 19(3) Application, paras. 99-100, Summary of Preliminary Examination Findings, paras. 7-9, article 18(1) notification, 9 March 2021, p. 2, see Annex A.

²⁷³ Afghanistan Appeal Judgment, paras. 60, 61, see also para. 63. See also ICC-01/21-12 ("Philippines Article 15(4) Decision"), para. 117.

²⁷⁴ Venezuela Article 18(2) Decision, para. 76 ("As this obligation merely concerns article 18 proceedings, this does not limit in any way the Prosecution's future investigations in these proceedings, if the Request is granted"); Venezuela Article 18(2) Appeal Judgment, para, 230.

²⁷⁵ See e.g. <u>Afghanistan Appeal Judgment</u>, para. 79 (defining the parameters of the Prosecutor's investigation into the Afghanistan situation: "the Prosecutor is authorised to commence an investigation 'in relation to alleged crimes committed on the territory of Afghanistan in the period since 1 May 2003, as well as other alleged crimes that

106. *Second*, the contrary approach advanced by some interveners would effectively limit the scope of the Prosecution's investigation, and any subsequent prosecutions, to those crimes and incidents identified during the preliminary examination—as such, to those crimes pre-dating the State referral (or the commencement of the Prosecution's investigation). The Appeals Chamber has repeatedly rejected this approach,²⁷⁶ and so have the Pre-Trial Chambers in defining the parameters of the authorised situations in their article 15(4) decisions.²⁷⁷

107. Since the Prosecutor's investigative powers are limited during the preliminary examination, the Appeals Chamber reasoned in *Afghanistan* that the Prosecution will not ordinarily be in a position at that stage to exhaustively identify each incident, crime or perpetrator that could be subject to investigation.²⁷⁸ This limitation is consistent with the applicable threshold for the Prosecution's assessment in considering whether to proceed—relevantly, a reasonable basis to believe that "a crime" within the jurisdiction of the Court has been committed,²⁷⁹ which is to say "at least one" such crime.²⁸⁰ While the Prosecutor may in his discretion choose to identify multiple "examples",²⁸¹ this is "merely illustrative of a threshold that has already been met."²⁸² As the Appeals Chamber held in *Afghanistan*, "the examples of alleged crimes presented by the Prosecutor" [in its article 15(3) request] "should"

have a nexus to the armed conflict in Afghanistan and are sufficiently linked to the situation and were committed on the territory of other States Parties in the period since 1 July 2002'").

ICC-01/18 46/49 23 August 2024

Afghanistan Appeal Judgment, paras. 2, 61; Afghanistan Second Appeal Judgment, paras, 57-59; Venezuela Article 18(2) Appeal Judgment, para. 230.
 See e.g. Bangladesh/Myanmar Article 15(4) Decision, para. 133 ("the Chamber finds that any crimes

²⁷⁷ See e.g. <u>Bangladesh/Myanmar Article 15(4)</u> <u>Decision</u>, para. 133 ("the Chamber finds that any crimes committed after the issuance of this decision remain within the temporal scope of the authorised investigation, as long as such crimes are sufficiently linked to the situation identified in the present decision"); ICC-02/11-14-Corr ("<u>Côte d'Ivoire Article 15(4)</u> <u>Decision</u>"), para. 179 ("Bearing in mind the volatile environment in Côte d'Ivoire, the Chamber finds it necessary to ensure that any grant of authorisation covers investigations into 'continuing crimes' – those whose commission extends past the date of the application. Thus, crimes that may be committed after the date of the Prosecutor's application will be covered by any authorisation, insofar as the contextual elements of the continuing crimes are the same as for those committed prior to 23 June 2011").

²⁷⁸ Afghanistan Appeal Judgment, para. 59.

²⁷⁹ Statute, art. 53(1)(a). While the Pre-Trial Chamber's jurisdictional assessment is set out in article 15(4), the Prosecution is obliged to consider article 53(1) for the purpose of determining whether to proceed under article 15(3) as a consequence of rule 48. *See Afghanistan Appeal Judgment*, paras. 34-37.

²⁸⁰ ICC-01/13-34 ("Comoros First Decision"), para. 13 (emphasis added).

²⁸¹ ICC-02/11-15-Corr ("Côte d'Ivoire Decision, Opinion of Judge Fernández"), para. 32 (recalling that "the facts and incidents identified" in an article 15(3) application "are not and could not be expected to be exhaustive [...], but are intended solely to give concrete examples to the Chamber"); see also para. 34 (referring to "this early and necessarily non-comprehensive identification of incidents"). The Prosecutor may elect to provide additional examples for instrumental rather than legal reasons, such as public transparency or to anticipate potential concerns about admissibility: see e.g. Cross, M., "The Standard of Proof in Preliminary Examinations" in Bergsmo and Stahn (eds.), Quality Control in Preliminary Examination: Volume 2 (Torkel Opsahl Academic EPublisher: Brussels, 2018) ("Cross"), pp. 248-249; Rastan, R., "The Jurisdictional Scope of Situations before the International Criminal Court", Criminal Law Forum (2012) ("Rastan (2012)"), pp. 26-27.

be sufficient to define in broad terms the contours of the situation" to be investigated. 283

108. Moreover, in a preliminary examination the Prosecutor cannot, by definition, identify crimes which may occur after his request under article 15(3).²⁸⁴ There is no reason in law or logic to demand that such crimes, if they fall within the parameters of a previously referred or authorised situation—or in any event are sufficiently linked to it—require further article 15(4) authorisation by the Pre-Trial Chamber (or other referrals) before they may be investigated by the Prosecution.²⁸⁵

109. Indeed, the Appeals Chamber has stated that the Prosecution's duties under article 54(1) of the Statute, in particular its truth-seeking function, necessarily affect the scope of any investigation. To fulfil those duties, and to obtain a full picture of the relevant facts (including their potential legal characterisation as crimes within the Court's jurisdiction, and the responsibility of the various actors who may be involved), the Prosecution must carry out an investigation into the situation as a whole.²⁸⁶ Conversely, "restricting the authorised investigation to the factual information obtained during the preliminary examination would erroneously inhibit the Prosecutor's truth-seeking function". 287

110. For these same reasons, States can only refer to the Prosecutor an entire situation and cannot cherry-pick incidents or select crimes committed by certain persons for the Court to investigate. 288 Consistent with this approach, persons have been tried and convicted by the Court for conduct that occurred after the relevant State referrals and which was not as such described in the article 18(1) notification letters, since it fell within the identified parameters of the Court's investigation into the situation. Thus, for example, Dominic Ongwen was convicted of crimes committed in northern Uganda as late as 31 December 2005, even though

ICC-01/18 47/49 23 August 2024

²⁸³ Afghanistan Appeal Judgment, para. 59.

²⁸⁴ Afghanistan Appeal Judgment, para. 59.

²⁸⁵ First Decision, para. 42.

²⁸⁶ The Appeals Chamber has stressed the Prosecutor's duty, pursuant to article 54(1) of the Statute, "to establish the truth", "to extend the investigation to cover all facts and evidence relevant to an assessment of whether there is criminal responsibility under this Statute, and, in doing so, investigate incriminating and exonerating circumstances equally" and "to [t]ake appropriate measures to ensure the effective investigation and prosecution of crimes within the jurisdiction of the Court": Afghanistan Appeal Judgment, para. 60. See also Philippines Article 15(4) Decision, para. 117.

287 <u>Afghanistan Appeal Judgment</u>, para. 61.

Mbarushimana Jurisdiction Decision, para. 27 ("[a]ccordingly, a referral cannot limit the Prosecutor to investigate only certain crimes, e.g. crimes committed by certain persons or crimes committed before or after a given date; as long as crimes are committed within the context of the situation of crisis that triggered the jurisdiction of the Court, investigations and prosecutions can be initiated"). See also para. 21 ("[..] as determined by the Chamber, the territorial and temporal scope of a situation is to be inferred from the analysis of the situation of crisis that triggered the jurisdiction of the Court through the referral. Crimes committed after the referral can fall within the jurisdiction of the Court when sufficiently linked to that particular situation of crisis").

Uganda referred the situation in December 2003 and the Prosecution announced the opening of the investigation in July 2004. ²⁸⁹

111. *Fourth*, the position endorsed by some interveners would be contrary to an interpretation of article 18 that accords with the VCLT, particularly with regard to the drafting history of the provision. Article 18 was introduced after a belated proposal by the USA, which sought to ensure that States would be aware of the commencement of the Court's investigation in order to avoid or at least minimise duplication of proceedings.²⁹⁰ The drafting history is clear that the USA was not seeking to reopen the agreement reached on the complementarity provisions, and that article 18 was intended to be consistent with those provisions.²⁹¹ Significantly, States wanted to avoid any interpretation of article 18 that would allow States to protect perpetrators by frustrating and delaying investigations by the Prosecutor.²⁹²

e. <u>Israel's 1 May 2024 Letter was not a request for deferral under article 18(2)</u>

112. The letter of 1 May 2024 in which Israel's ambassador purportedly requested the deferral of the investigation did not constitute a "deferral request" within the terms of article 18.²⁹³ The Court's legal framework clearly stipulates a deadline of one month for a relevant State to request the deferral of the Court's investigation under article 18(2) of the Statute.²⁹⁴ As recently confirmed by the Appeals Chamber in the *Venezuela* situation, "these provisions indicate that the proceedings under article 18 of the Statute must indeed be conducted expeditiously".²⁹⁵ It would contravene these provisions, and their objective, if Israel could request the deferral of

ICC-01/18 48/49 23 August 2024

²⁸⁹ Ongwen was convicted of crimes that took place from 1 July 2002 to 31 December 2005: ICC-02/04-01/15-1762-Red ("*Ongwen Trial Judgment*"), paras. 1, 32, 3116. Uganda referred the situation on 16 December 2003. The Prosecutor's article 18(1) notification letter dates 28 July 2004. Al-Hassan was brought to trial for crimes that took place between 1 April 2012 and 28 January 2013: ICC-01/12-01/18-2594-Red ("*Al-Hassan Trial Judgment*"), para. 9. Mali referred the situation on 13 July 2012. The Prosecution's article 18(1) letter dates 16 January 2013.

²⁹⁰ Holmes, J., "The Principle of Complementarity" in Lee (ed.), *The International Criminal Court: the making of the Rome Statute* (Martinus Nijhoff Publishers: The Hague, 1999) ("Holmes 1999"), p. 69; <u>Schabas</u>, "<u>Investigation and Pre-Trial Procedure</u>" in *An Introduction to the International Criminal Court* (Cambridge University Press: 2020), p. 293.

²⁹¹ Holmes 1999, p. 69; Nsereko, D. and Ventura, M., "Article 19" in Ambos (ed.), *Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court: Article-by-Article Commentary*, 4th ed. (Beck/Hart Publishing: München, 2022) ("Nsereko/Ventura"), p. 1012, mn. 4.

²⁹² Holmes 1999, p. 70; Nsereko/Ventura, p. 1013; Holmes, J., "Complementarity: National Courts versus the ICC" in Cassesse *et al.* (eds.), *The Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court*, Vol. 1 (Oxford University Press: 2002), pp. 681-682.

²⁹³ Contra USA, paras. 16, 24-25. It would appear that Israel has shared this letter with the USA. See Annex B. ²⁹⁴ Statute, art. 18(2) ("Within one month of receipt of that notification, a State may inform the Court that it is investigating or has investigated its nationals or others within its jurisdiction with respect to criminal acts which may constitute crimes referred to in article 5 and which relate to the information provided in the notification to States"). A State's request for additional information does not affect this time limit, as per rule 52(2) of the Rules. ²⁹⁵ Venezuela Article 18(2) Appeal Judgment, para. 130.

the Prosecutor's investigation three years after receiving the Prosecutor's timely notification under article 18(1) and having failed to request deferral within the statutory deadline.²⁹⁶

113. In addition to being manifestly out of time, Israel's letter neither mentions article 18 nor satisfies the legal requirements of a deferral request under article 18.²⁹⁷ Merely asserting the capacity of the Israeli justice system and that some investigations are ongoing is not sufficient. The requesting State bears the burden of proof and must demonstrate that its proceedings sufficiently mirror the scope of the Prosecution's intended investigation.²⁹⁸ It must provide information of a sufficient degree of specificity and probative value to demonstrate an advancing process of relevant domestic investigations or prosecutions, including patterns of criminality and high-ranking officials.²⁹⁹ Israel did not provide any such material that would meet this burden. Nor, as outlined above, does any such information appear to exist.

IV. RELIEF REQUESTED

114. The Prosecution respectfully requests the Pre-Trial Chamber to:

- dismiss in limine the observations unrelated to the Oslo Accords; and
- urgently render its decisions under article 58, on the basis of the Prosecution's Applications, these submissions, and the Article 19(3) Decision.

Karim A.A. Khan KC, Prosecutor

Dated this 23rd day of August 2024

At The Hague, The Netherlands

ICC-01/18 49/49 23 August 2024

²⁹⁶ See Annex A, including the Prosecutor's article 18(1) notification of 9 March 2021; Israel's letter of 8 April 2021; the Prosecutor's letter in response of 9 April 2021, and Israel's reply via email of 26 April 2021.

²⁹⁷ Rules of Procedure and Evidence, rules 53 to 55.

²⁹⁸ Philippines Article 18(2) Appeal Judgment, paras. 74, 75, 77; Venezuela Article 18(2) Appeal Judgment, paras. 75-77.

²⁹⁹ <u>Philippines Article 18(2) Appeal Judgment</u>, paras. 1, 2, 74, 77-80, 106; <u>Philippines Article 18(2) Decision</u>, paras. 14, 90; <u>Venezuela Article 18(2) Decision</u>, para. 66.